TOXICOLOGICAL CHARACTERIZATION OF SODIUM METABISULFITE AND MITIGATION OF ITS EFFECTS BY STANDARDIZED *Ginkgo biloba* EXTRACT (EGb-761) IN A MOUSE MODEL

Nancy Wambui Wairimu Dip (TUK); BTech (Tuk) (SSAU/05185P/2020)

A Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Award of the Degree of Master of Science in Forensic Biochemistry

in

The School of Biological and Life Sciences

of

The Technical University of Kenya

(NOVEMBER 2023)

DECLARATION

This dissertation is my original work and has not been presented in any other institution for a

degree award or other qualification.

NANCY WAMBUI WAIRIMI **REG. NO. SSAU/05185P/2020** Signature _____ Date _____

This dissertation has been submitted with our approval as supervisors:

Signature	Date
6	

DR. JAMES NYABUGA NYARIKI SENIOR LECTURER DEPARTMENT OF BIOCHEMITRY AND BIOTECHNOLOGY THE TECHNICAL UNIVERSITY OF KENYA

Signature _____ Date _____

DR. PATRICK W. OKANYA SENIOR LECTURER DEPARTMENT OF BIOCHEMISTRY AND BIOTECHNOLOGY THE TECHNICAL UNIVERSITY OF KENYA

Signature _____ Date _____

DR. PENNINAH WAIRAGU LECTURER DEPARTMENT OF BIOCHEMISTRY AND BIOTECHNOLOGY THE TECHNICAL UNIVERSITY OF KENYA

DEDICATION

I dedicate this thesis to the Almighty God for the blessing of life and for keeping me strong and committed to the journey. Secondly I dedicate this thesis to my family for their unconditional support and finally I would like to dedicate this work to my friends who encouraged me throughout the journey.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First, I wish to thank God for the strength, good health, and for making this journey a beautiful one. Special thanks to Dr. James Nyariki, for the excellent supervision and guidance throughout the development of this dissertation. In addition, many thanks to Dr. Patrick Okanya, Dr.George. F.Obiero, and Dr. Penninah Wairagu for their guidance and commitment through this research journey. I am also grateful to the TUK-Progress Research Forum for providing me with a platform to present and critique my work. I am grateful to the Department of Biochemistry and Biotechnology at the Technical University of Kenya for providing me with the necessary academic support that enabled me to finish my studies.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLARATION	ii
DEDICATION	iii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iv
TABLE OF CONTENTS	v
LIST OF FIGURES	x
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	xiii
LIST OF APPENDICES	xvi
COPYRIGHT	xvii
ABSTRACT	xviii
CHAPTER ONE	1
INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Background information	1
1.2 Problem Statement	
1.3 Justification	
1.4. Research questions	
1.5 Objectives	
1.5.1 General objective	
1.5.2 Specific objectives	
CHAPTER TWO	6
LITERATURE REVIEW	6
2.1 Sodium metabisulfite	6
2.2 Uses of sodium metabisulfite	6
2.2.1 Food preservative	6
2.2.2 Fungicide and Antimicrobial	7

2	.3 Effects of sodium metabisulfite-induced toxicity	7
	2.4.1 The standardized <i>Ginkgo biloba</i> leaf extract (EGb- 761)	. 10
	2.4.2 Pharmacological action of EGb-761	. 10
	2.4.2.1 Antioxidant activity	. 10
	2.4.2.2 Anti-inflammation	. 11
	2.4.2.3 Gingko biloba and neuronal protection	. 11
	2.4.2.4 Impact of EGb-761 in ulcerative colitis and Alzheimer's disease	. 12
	2.4.2.5 EGb-761 in cardiovascular diseases	. 13
	2.4.2.6 EGb-761 in hypertension and chronic kidney disease	. 13
	2.4.2.7 Immunomodulatory effects of EGb-761	. 14
	2.4.2.8 Protective role of EGb-761 against heavy metal toxicity	. 15
СН	APTER THREE	. 16
MA	TERIALS AND METHODS	. 16
3	.1 Ethical Statement	. 16
3	.2 Animals and experimental design	. 16
3	.3 Preparation of sodium metabisulfite and Ginkgo biloba	. 17
3	.4 Determination of the body weights and relative organ weights (ROW)	. 17
3	.5 Euthanization of mice and sample collection and preparation	. 18
3	.6 Hematological determination, electrolytes, liver and kidney function and lipid profile	
a	nalysis	. 18
3	.7 The Cytokine assays	. 19
3	.8 Quantification of nitric oxide in plasma using Griess assay	. 20
3	.9 Assessment of malondialdehyde (MDA) levels	. 20
3	.11 Histopathological analysis of the liver, brain and kidney	. 22
3	.12 Statistical Analysis	. 23

(CHAPTER FOUR	24
]	RESULTS	24
	3.1. Effects of SMB and EGb-761on body weight and organ weights	24
	3.2. Effects of SMB and EGb-761on relative organ weights	24
	3.3. The effects of SMB and EGb-761 on red blood cells, packed cell volume and	
	hemoglobin	25
	3.5. Effects of SMB and <i>Ginkgo biloba</i> on white blood cells and its sub-types	27
	3.6. Effects of sodium metabisulfite and <i>Ginkgo biloba</i> on platelets and its indices	28
	3.7. Effects of sodium metabisulfite and Ginkgo biloba on serum lipid levels	29
	3.8. Effects of SMB and <i>Ginkgo biloba</i> on liver function	30
	3.9. Effects of SMB and Ginkgo biloba on hepatic levels of bilirubin and gamma-	
	glutamyltransferase	31
	3.10. The impact of SMB and <i>Ginkgo biloba</i> kidney function	31
	3.11. The impact of sodium metabisulfite and Ginkgo biloba on potassium, sodium and	
	chloride ions	32
	3.12. The impact of sodium metabisulfite and <i>Ginkgo biloba</i> on malondialdehyde levels	33
	3.13. The impact of sodium metabisulfite and Ginkgo biloba on serum, heart and kidney	
	malondialdehyde levels	35
	3.14. Effects of sodium metabisulfite and Ginkgo biloba on the levels of reduced	
	glutathione	35
	3.15. Effects of sodium metabisulfite and Ginkgo biloba on GSH levels of lungs and	
	kidney	37
	3.16. Effects of sodium metabisulfite and <i>Ginkgo biloba</i> on nitric oxide levels	37
	3.17. Effects of sodium metabisulfite and <i>Ginkgo biloba</i> on cytokine levels	38

3.18. Effects of sodium metabisulfite and Ginkgo biloba on total immunoglobulins and
protein levels
3.19. Histopathological analysis of the effects of Ginkgo biloba on mice liver tissues
following sodium metabisulfite exposure
3.20. Histopathological analysis of the effects of Ginkgo biloba on mice kidney tissues
following sodium metabisulfite exposure
3.21. Histopathological analysis of the effects of Ginkgo biloba on mice brain tissues
following sodium metabisulfite exposure
CHAPTER FIVE
DISCUSSION
5.1 The effect of EGb-761 supplementation against SMB driven alteration of host
physiological and hematological alterations
5.2 The impact of EGb-761 administration against SMB driven alteration of lipid profile 47
5.3 The impact of oral administration of EGb-761 against SMB driven kidney, liver
damage and metabolic acidosis
5.4 The impact of EGb-761 administration against SMB driven oxidative events and
inflammation 50
5.5 The ameliorative impact of EGb-761 supplementation against SMB driven organ
pathological lesions
CHAPTER SIX
CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION
6.1 Conclusion
6.2 Recommendations
REFERENCES
APPENDICES

Figure	2.1:	Gingko	biloba
leaves		10	
Figure 2.1: The second	he effects of Ginkgo biloba on	sodium metabisulfite drive	en change in the
general			body
weight			23
Figure 3.2: Tl	he effects of Ginkgo biloba on	sodium metabisulfite drive	en change in the
relative			organ
weight			24
Figure 3.3: Ef	fect of sodium metabisulfite ar	nd/or <i>Ginkgo biloba</i> admini	stration on PCV,
RBCs,	and	HGB	in
mice			25
Figure 3.4: Eff	fect of sodium metabisulfite and	or <i>Ginkgo biloba</i> administra	tion on red blood
cell	ind	ices	in
mice			26
Figure 3.5: Eff	fect of sodium metabisulfite and/	or <i>Ginkgo biloba</i> administra	tion on WBC and
sub-types			in
mice			27
Figure 3.6: Ef	fect of sodium metabisulfite and	/or <i>Ginkgo biloba</i> administr	ation on platelets
and	platelet	sub-types	in
mice			3
Figure 3.7: Ef	ffect of sodium metabisulfite a	nd/or <i>Ginkgo biloba</i> admin	istration on lipid
profile29			
Figure 3.8: E	ffect of sodium metabisulfite a	nd/or <i>Ginkgo biloba</i> on th	e levels of liver
enzymes29			

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 3.9: Effect of sodium metabisulfite and/or Ginkgo biloba on the levels of bilirubin and GGT.... .30 Figure 3.10: Comparison of the effect of sodium metabisulfite and/or Ginkgo biloba administration levels of creatinine. uric acid and on the urea, albumin......31 Figure 3.11: The effect of sodium metabisulfite and/or Ginkgo biloba administration on the of levels serum Figure 3.12: Comparison of the effect of sodium metabisulfite and/or Ginkgo biloba administration the levels of on malondialdehyde......33 Figure 3.13: Comparison of the effect of sodium metabisulfite and/or Ginkgo biloba administration levels of on the Figure 3.14: Comparison of the effect of sodium metabisulfite and/or Ginkgo biloba administration on the levels of cellular reduced glutathione concentration in Figure 3.15: Comparison of the effect of sodium metabisulfite and/or Ginkgo biloba administration on the levels of cellular reduced glutathione concentration in Figure 3.16: Effect of sodium metabisulfite and/or Ginkgo biloba administration on the levels of nitric oxide in

Figure	3.17:	Comparison	of the	e effect o	f sodium	metabisulfite	and/or	Ginkgo	biloba
adminis	stratior	1	on	the		levels	of	F	the
cytokin	es				•••••		38		
Figure	3.18:	Comparison	of the	e effect o	f sodium	metabisulfite	and/or	Ginkgo	biloba
adminis	stratior	n on	the	levels	of	immunoglob	ulins	and	total
proteins	5								
Figure	3.19	Effects	of EG	b-761 or	n mice	liver tissues	upon	exposi	ure to
SMB	•••••	40)						
Figure	3.20:	the effect	of sod	ium meta	bisulfite	and/or Ginkge	o biloba	<i>i</i> on th	e liver
tissue		41							
Figure 3	3.21: 7	The figure sho	ows the	effect of s	odium me	tabisulfite and/	or Gink	go bilobc	on the
brain									
tissue	• • • • • • • • •								

.42

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AD	Alzheimer's disease
ALP	Alkaline phosphatase
ALT	Alanine aminotransferase
ANOVA	One-way analysis of variance
AST	Aspartate aminotransferase
CHD	Coronary heart disease
DSS	Dextran sulfate sodium
DTNB	Dinitrothiocyanatebenzene
EGb-761	Standardized Ginkgo bilobaextract
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
GBPS	Gingko biloba polysaccharides
GGT	Gamma-glutamyl transferase
GSH	Reduced glutathione
H&E	Hematoxylin and eosin
HDL	High density lipoprotein
HGB	Hemoglobin
HRP	Horse radish peroxidase
IACUC	Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee
IFN-γ	Interferon-gamma
IL-10	Inter-leukin-10
iNOS	Inducible nitric oxide synthase
IPR	Institute of Primate Research
MAPK	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
MCAO	Middle cerebral artery occlusion

MCH	Mean corpuscular hemoglobin
MCHC	Mean corpuscular hemoglobin concentration
MCV	Mean corpuscular volume
MDA	Malondialdehyde
MPV	Mean platelet volume
NF-Kb	Nuclear factor-kappa B
NO	Nitric oxide
PAD	Peripheral artery disease
РСТ	Plateletcrit
PCV	Packed cell volume
PDW	Platelet distribution width
P-LCR	Platelet large cell ratio
PPM	Parts per million
RBC	Red blood cells
RDW-CV	Red cell distribution width coefficient of variation
RDW-SD	Red cell distribution width standard deviation
ROS	Reactive Oxygen Species
ROW	Relative organ weights
RT	Room temperature
S0 ₂	Sulphur dioxide
SMB	Sodium metabisulfite (SMB)
SO_3^{2-}	Sulfites
SO4 ²⁻	Sulfates
TBARS	Thiobarbituric acid reactive species
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor-α

WBC White blood cells

WHO World health organization

LIST OF APPENDICES

COPYRIGHT

All rights reserved. No part of this dissertation may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by means of electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise without permission in writing from the author or The Technical University of Kenya on behalf of the author.

ABSTRACT

Sodium metabisulfite (SMB), is a biocide and antioxidant agent generally used as a preservative in food and beverage industries, but can oxidize to harmful sulfite radicals. A standardized Ginkgo biloba (EGb-761) is well characterized, with 24% flavone glycosides (primarily quercetin, kaempferol and isorhamnetin) and 6% terpene lactones (2.8-3.4% ginkgolides A, B and C, and 2.6-3.2% bilobalide). Notably, Ginkgolide B and bilobalide account for about 0.8% and 3% of the total extract, respectively. EGb-761 has demonstrated potent antioxidant and anti-inflammatory activity, beneficial for the treatment of toxicants and diseases that exhibit oxidative stress and inflammation. The present study sought to investigate the putative ameliorative effects of EGb-761 against SMB-induced toxicity in mice. Thirty-two male Swiss white mice were randomized into control, SMB-treated, SMB + EGb-761-treated and EGb-761-treated groups. EGb-761 (100mg/kg/day) and SMB (98mg/kg/day) were administered by gastric gavage for 40 days. Body and relative organ weight, haematological profile, serum electrolytes and lipid profile, tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), interferon-gamma (IFN- γ), IL-10, nitric oxide (NO), tissue malondial dehyde (MDA) and reduced (GSH) levels and organ damage and pathology have been estimated. Oral administration of EGb-761 restored SMB-induced decrease in body weight and prevented SMB-induced thrombocytopenia, leukocytosis and anaemia. Further, EGb-761-treatment protected against SMB-induced liver and kidney injury depicted by decreased serum levels of aspartate aminotransferase (AST), alanine aminotransferase (ALT), alkaline phosphatase, bilirubin, creatinine, urea, uric acid and albumin. Furthermore, EGb-761 treatment attenuated SMB-driven dyslipidemia and metabolic acidosis. Besides, EGb-761 supplementation abrogated SMB-driven oxidative stress as depicted by stabilized GSH levels in the brain, liver, kidney, spleen, heart and lungs. SMB induced a significant increase of tissue levels of MDA, NO, IFN- γ and TNF- α were abrogated by EGb-761 treatment. Histopathological analysis revealed that exposure to SMB resulted in liver and kidney damage. It was noted that EGb-761 nullified those adverse pathological lesions. In conclusion, these results demonstrate that oral administration of standardized Ginkgo bilobaattenuated SMB-induced alteration of hematological parameters, metabolic acidosis, inflammatory responses, oxidative stress and organ damage. These findings provide a novel approach that can be SMB optimized for preventing treating toxicity. or exposure due to

CHAPTER ONE

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background information

Sodium metabisulfite (SMB) is an inorganic chemical widely used as a preservative in the food, beverage and pharmaceutical industries due to its ability to stop the growth of microorganisms and its antioxidant properties (Zhang *et al.*, 2015). It is a sulfating agent that reacts with water to release toxic sulphur dioxide (S0₂) when ingested or inhaled. Sulfites can be produced endogenously through the degradation of sulphur-containing amino acids such as cysteine and methionine or they can be obtained externally through food, drink, medicine or from the environment by inhalation of polluted air (El-Kadi *et al.*, 2014). The toxicity of sulfites is mitigated in vivo by sulfur oxidase that converts sulfites (SO₃²⁻) to sulfates (SO₄²⁻) (Cabre *et al.*, 1990). The established and acceptable daily intake of ingested sulfites expressed as S0₂ equivalents is 0.7 mg/kg body weight (Nair *et al.*, 2003). The toxic effects associated with SMB include male infertility (Zare *et al.*, 2019), pneumonitis (Sack *et al.*, 2023), increased lipid peroxidation (Elmas *et al.*, 2005), neurotoxicity (Noorafshan *et al.*, 2013), alterations in immunological, biochemical and hematological parameters (El-Kadi *et al.*, 2014), cytotoxic to cells and damage to the heart (Yoo *et al.*, 2018; Zhang *et al.*, 2015).

Usage of SMB within the recommended concentrations is usually safe but it becomes toxic when used in excess or due to prolonged exposure. At higher concentrations, SMB acts as a prooxidant (Elmas *et al.*, 2005) and prolonged exposure may lead to deleterious effects on biological systems causing organ damage such as hepatotoxicity, nephrotoxicity, coronary artery disease, brain edema and dementia (Sack *et al.*, 2023). The sulphates generated from sulphites are

oxidants that are converted to reactive oxygen species and other SO_2 free radicals responsible for various adverse effects (Vally & Misso, 2012).

From literature review, it is evident that the concentration of SMB is not regulated in most countries and most flesh food vendors have the temptation to use copious amounts in order to extend the self-life of food. In Kenya, however, this preservative is still in use in butcheries and supermarkets despite the health hazards it poses. Particularly, tests carried out by Kenya bureau of standards, revealed that over 98 mg/kg of sodium metabisulphite were found in the minced meat bought in a city supermarkets. By international standards, fresh meat is not supposed to contain any preservative. Therefore, there is a need for detailed studies to evaluate and characterize the negative physiological and biochemical process affected by SMB in humans to enable diagnostic and forensic determination of exposure.

Gingko biloba is a famous herbal medicinal plant that is cultivated because of its immense bioactive substances (Belwal *et al.*, 2019). Gingko leaf extracts (EGb) have wide applications in alternative medicine, complementary medicine, food and dietary supplements (Belwal *et al.*, 2019). The diverse EGb bioactive compounds include a variety of terpenoids, flavonoids, bioflavonoids, lignans and organic acids (Noor-E-Tabassum *et al.*, 2022; Xiong *et al.*, 2021; Biernacka *et al.*, 2023; shu *et al.*, 2020). A standardized *Ginkgo biloba* leaf extract (EGb 761) has been shown to contain multiple bioactive substances (Xie & Lu, 2022). This standardized extract is by far among the most commonly used herbal medicine (Noor-E-Tabassum *et al.*, 2022). Its composition is majorly flavonoids and terpenoids including 22-27% ginkgo flavonoids mainly quercetin, kaempferol, and isorhamnetin, 5-7% terpene lactones of 3-4% ginkgolides A, B, and C, 2.6 - 3.2% bilobalide and ginkgolic acid (<5ppm) (Smith *et al.*, 1996). The EGb-761 is used for the treatment and management of neurological and cardiovascular diseases, its use has

shown beneficial results in Alzheimer, dementia and ischemic stroke (Cui *et al.*, 2023; Vellas *et al.*, 2012).

EGb-761 possess powerful antioxidant properties that neutralizes oxygen free radicals, the major cause of neurodegenerative diseases and aging (Olofunmilayo *et al.*, 2023). In addition, EGb-761 can mitigate against lipid peroxidation by acting as a free radical scavenger, and is able to reduce inflammation in diseases such as arthritis, irritable bowel syndrome, cancer and heart diseases (Mahitra *et al.*, 1995). This is achieved via the reduction of inflammation by inhibiting the transcription of genes responsible for inflammatory responses and histamine release (Olofunmilayo *et al.*, 2023). Besides, accumulating evidence suggests that *Ginkgo biloba* works by inhibiting inflammatory mediators like NO, TNF- α , and inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) (Abdel-Emam & Abd-Eldayem, 2022; Wadsworth & Koop, 2001; Ilieva *et al.*, 2004). Further, ameliorative effects of EGb-761 against lead and fluoride-induced toxicity have been documented (Raju *et al.*, 2020; Amjad *et al.*, 2013). These previous findings informed our use of *Ginkgo biloba* in this study, given that organ damage, inflammation and oxidative stress are some of the features associated with SMB toxicity. Therefore, in the present study, the effects of EGb-761 treatment on various toxicities initiated by SMB exposure in mice were evaluated.

1.2 Problem Statement

Consumption of SMB contaminated food has undesirable health implications this is because its metabolic by-products are implicated in infertility, pneumonitis, oxidant damage, neurotoxicity alterations in immunological, biochemical and hematological parameters, cytotoxic to cells and damage to the heart (Yoo *et al.*, 2018; Zhang *et al.*, 2015; Zare *et al.*, 2019; Elmas *et al.*, 2005). A survey done in Kenya in 2018 indicated that over 98 mg/kg of SMB residue was present in minced meat sold at various butcheries and supermarkets in Nairobi. These amounts are ten

times above the world health organization (WHO) recommendations. Despite the reported high dosages of SMB on meat, information on its toxicity and associated deleterious effects on human health remains scant. The negative physiological and biochemical processes affected by this dosage of SMB exposure have not been determined to enable diagnostic and forensic determination of exposure, as well as allow development of detoxification or treatment strategies. Due to induction of inflammatory responses, oxidative stress and alteration of physiological and biochemical parameters by SMB, it is imperative to assess if antioxidants and anti-inflammatory agents such as EGb-761 can ameliorate toxicity due to SMB. EGb-761 is a potent anti-inflammatory and anti-oxidative agent. However, the role of EGb-761 in ameliorating deleterious events due to SMB exposure remains elusive.

1.3 Justification

Consumption of high levels of SMB can lead to life-threatening effects since it has previously been associated with deleterious effects on biological systems such as organ damage i.e. hepatotoxicity, nephrotoxicity and edema in brain tissue. Understanding the impact of sodium metabisulfite driven toxicity in a mouse model is vital. Therefore, appropriate efforts must be instituted that are based on credible scientific evidence in regard to the adverse effects due to excess application of SMB on food staff.

Furthermore, the evaluation of the attenuative effects by EGb-761 which is an antioxidant, antiinflammatory, anti-apoptotic and immuno-modulatory agent during SMB exposure is of critical importance. Data from this study will enable the generation of a toxicological profile due to SMB exposure and possible evidence of the use of EGb-761 as an ameliorating agent in SMB exposure. The toxicological profile can be used for immediate diagnosis for individuals exposed to SMB for timely administration of the necessary therapy. The data will also help in the development of policy on the safe use of SMB and management of SMB exposure.

1.4. Research questions

- 1. What are the effects of sodium metabisulfite exposure on the host physiological, lipid and hematological profile?
- 2. What is the impact of sodium metabisulfite on oxidative events, organ damage and inflammation?
- 3. What is the impact of *Ginkgo biloba* on sodium metabisulfite-induced toxicity?

1.5 Objectives

1.5.1 General objective

To characterize toxicological effects of sodium metabisulfite and mitigation of its effects by standardized *Ginkgo biloba* extract in a mouse model

1.5.2 Specific objectives

- To evaluate the impact of sodium metabisulfite driven alteration of host physiological, lipid profile and hematological changes
- 2. To decipher the putative effects of sodium metabisulfite driven oxidative events, organ damage and inflammation
- 3. To elucidate the impact of *Ginkgo biloba* against sodium metabisulfite driven toxicity

CHAPTER TWO

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Sodium metabisulfite

Sodium metabisulfite (SMB) is an inorganic compound also known as sodium pyro-sulfite, disodium salt, di-sodium sulfite, sodium bisulfite or sodium sulfite anhydrous, and is the commonly produced salt of sulfurous acid (Elmas *et al.*, 2005). It is crystalline and smells like a rotten egg or has a smell like that of sulfur. It is yellow in color and its chemical formula is $Na_2S_2O_5$ with a molar mass of 190.107 g/mol. It has a density of 1.48 g/cm³, and a melting point of $170^{\circ}C$ but its decomposition starts at $150^{\circ}C$. The salt is soluble in glycerol and partially soluble in ethanol. Its solubility in water increases with increasing temperature although when dissolved in water it produces bisulphate or sulfur dioxide gas (toxic) and this makes the aqueous solution acidic in nature (Zhang *et al.*, 2015)

2.2 Uses of sodium metabisulfite

2.2.1 Food preservative

Sodium metabisulfite is mainly used in food preservatives as it prevents the browning of food and also prevents the normal oxidation of microorganisms hence hindering the microorganism's reproduction in food (Zhang *et al.*, 2015). It is more effective against gram-negative than grampositive bacteria and is more effective at low pH. Nevertheless, countries such as Australia and New –Zealand use the recommended dosage of 10mg/ kg of meat, while in the UK the SMB is only permitted in certain food staff but can cause significant loss of vitamins such as thiamin in food (Gerhard *et al.*, 2006). In the US the use of SMB was banned in 1986 by the US Food and Drug Authority as it was linked with 13 deaths and it's referred to as a silent killer (Vally & Misso, 2012). In Kenya, SMB is hideously widely used in butcheries and supermarkets despite the related health hazards that it poses. It is mostly used in periods when business is low especially at the beginning of the year to aid in the preservation of meat for up to three months. It is usually mixed with water and sprinkled on meat to give it a deep red color and a fresh look to attract customers. Sodium metabisulfite is also used in snack crackers in dough modification to make them tender. Despite this known illegal application of SMB on meat, the detrimental effects associated with the consumption of such food staff especially in Kenya are yet to be investigated.

2.2.2 Fungicide and Antimicrobial

Sodium metabisulfite is used as an anti-fungal and anti-bacterial during the shipment of goods such as shoes and clothing. It is also used in plastic stickers and packaging to prevent fungal and bacterial growth (Ohara *et al.*, 2020). Moreover, it is applied in the destruction of cyanide in commercial gold cyanidation, prevents shrinking of garments after washing since it's added to textiles, and acts as a solvent during starch extraction from tubers and testing of sickle cell anemia in blood smears. It is also used in photographs and also in the removal of tree stamps by causing the degradation of lignin in stamps enhancing the removal of the stamps (Torabian *et al.*, 2017). Sodium metabisulfite is used as a sanitizer in juices and wines before fermentation as it kills all the harmful microbes in the juices and wines. It is also used to sanitize equipment (Kamel *et al.*, 2015).

2.3 Effects of sodium metabisulfite-induced toxicity

Sodium metabisulfite has been associated with many biological deleterious effects. An avalanche body of evidence has shown that exposure to SMB results in strong allergic reactions that lead to the triggering of asthma through the induction of broncho-constriction with concomitant wheezing and coughing when inhaled (Shekarforoush *et al.*, 2015). Exposure to elevated levels of SMB has also been associated with male infertility as Sulphur dioxide levels increase in the testis of male mice, the lactate dehydrogenase activities increase hence reducing the protein levels, testosterone, and total number of spermatogonia, primary spermatocyte and spermatids (Shekarforoush *et al.*, 2015). Further, SMB causes molecular oxidation to form sulfite radicals which form lipid alkyl radicals when sulfites react with lipids (Yoo *et al.*, 2018). These radicals cause oxidative stress in the body which causes serious damage. Molecular oxidation leads to lipid peroxidation that causes tissue injuries apoptosis and necrosis and DNA damage leading to mutations hence can trigger cancer (Ercan *et al.*, 2015).

In addition, SMB has been associated with increased biochemical parameters such as urea, creatinine, calcium, uric acid and transaminases (Aslam, 2022). Besides, a decrease in immunoglobulin and the levels of hemoglobin, red blood cells and white blood cells have been reported (Elkadi *et al.*, 2014). Increasing piece of evidence has also demonstrated that exposure to sodium metabisulfite causes physiological changes in the body such as splenomegaly, hepatomegaly, stomach inflammation and also kidney enlargement (Ercan *et al.*, 2015). It is very clear from the foregoing that the toxic effects of sulfite-free radicals toxic on neuronal cell lines are the major underlying causes of neurological diseases such as Alzheimer's and Parkinson's (Cabre *et al.*, 1990). Indeed, neuronal cell lines are associated with memory storage and once damaged they cause memory loss. Furthermore, SMB has also been associated with a decrease in body weight, an increase in the total protein concentration and lactate dehydrogenase activity in the bronchoalveolar lavage fluid and metaplasia of the squamous cell when inhaled (Lai *et al.*, 2018).

2.4. Ginkgo biloba

Ginkgo biloba is a native tree species in China. It's the last species of the order Ginkgoales which is referred to as the "living fossils. This tree has been used largely in traditional medicine as it was associated with neuroprotection effects amongst other therapeutic benefits. Ginkgo biloba leaf extract (EGb-761) (Fig. 2.1) was and is still widely used as an herbal supplement in traditional Chinese medicine. The tree is dioecious with separate sexes with some trees being male and others female. Fertilization of ginkgo seeds occurs through motile sperms like in ferns. Its seasonal fan-shaped leaves, and leathery leaf blade that is dissected with veins that are dichotomous. It has yellow seeds on a long stalk surrounded by sarcotesta and has a smell like that of rancid butter (Belwal et al., 2019). Roasted seeds of Gingko are edible as traditional Chinese medicine. They are used in the management of diseases such as bronchitis, renal dysfunction, anti-inflammation and bladder disease (Strain et al., 2019). Ginkgo has a large genome of about 10.6 billion nucleotide base pairs and this makes it have a considerable number of antimicrobial and other chemical defense mechanisms. Previous studies have reported *Ginkgo* biloba polysaccharides molecules to have different biological actions such as anti-oxidation, anti-inflammation, immunomodulation, anti-tumor and therapeutic values in cardiovascular and ischemic diseases. They have also been implicated in memory loss and cognitive disorders, cancer pain, metabolic syndrome, thrombotic disorders and sexual enhancement. A recent study has shown consistent antiviral activity (Ibrahim et al., 2021).



Figure 2.4: Gingko biloba leaves

2.4.1 The standardized *Ginkgo biloba* leaf extract (EGb- 761)

The proven role of EGb-761 against cerebral and peripheral disorders of blood flow and cerebral atherosclerosis is well documented (Zeng *et al.*, 2018). The use of *Ginkgo biloba* as an herbal supplement especially due to its enrichment with chemical substances that are not known in other living things is well-accepted in literature (Smith *et al.*, 1996). EGb-761 is known to contain 6% terpene lactones (ginkgolides A, B and C, and bilobalide) and 24% flavones (isorhamnetin, kaempferol and primarily quercetin) being the largest group of active compounds (Smith *et al.*, 1996). Other constituents include glucose, D-glucaric, proanthocyanidins, organic acids rhamnose and gingolic acids (Goktaş *et al.*, 2008).

2.4.2 Pharmacological action of EGb-761

2.4.2.1 Antioxidant activity

The EGb-761 act as an antioxidant by directly scavenging the free radicals and thus neutralizing them in the cellular environment (Rahal *et al.*, 2014). Free radicals are highly reactive oxygen species that can react with biological molecules causing apoptosis and necrosis leading to tissue and organ injury. Oxidative stress is the major cause of neurodegenerative diseases and accelerated aging (Tewari *et al.*, 2017; Nowak *et al.*, 2021). The EGb-761 constituent's ginkgolides are known to provide inhibitory effects on lipid peroxidation (Derin *et al.*, 2006). It

also acts as an antagonist platelet aggregation factor, a factor that initiates the generation of reactive oxygen species flavonoids glycosides which reduces the formation of lipoprotein oxidation which is accompanied by the reduction in the formation of atherosclerosis and vascular injury (Kaur *et al.*, 2018). It also acts as a free radical scavenger (Zhou *et al.*, 2017).

Moreover, *Ginkgo biloba* is known to contain high levels of terpenoids, flavonoids, glycosides and terpene lactones which are compounds known for their strong antioxidant effects (Zhou *et al.*, 2017).

2.4.2.2 Anti-inflammation

The inflammation process is part of the body's natural response to injury or invasion by a foreign substance. The inflammatory responses include the production of various components such as pro-inflammatory cytokines and interleukins, which are recruited directly or indirectly to fight against the immunogens or to facilitate healing of the injured area. However, excessive inflammatory response can cause permanent damage to the body's tissues and DNA. A growing body of evidence has shown that ginkgo extract can reduce markers of inflammation in both human and animal cells in a variety of disease states including arthritis, irritable bowel syndrome, heart disease and stroke (Pizza *et al.*, 2019; Ilieva *et al.*, 2004). The extract reduces inflammation by inhibiting the transcription of genes responsible for inflammatory responses (Abdel-Salam *et al.*, 2004).

2.4.2.3 Gingko biloba and neuronal protection

Reduction of neuronal injury by EGb-761 extract has also been observed against cerebral ischemia, hypoxia, and animal models of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (Cui *et al., 2023*; Vellas*et al., 2012*). The neuroprotective impact of EGb-761 has been demonstrated to be mediated by ginkgolides (1-100 M in vitro or 50-100 mg/kg in vivo), bilobalides (25-100 M in vitro or 10

mg/kg in vivo), and, in some circumstances, flavonoids (25-100 g/ml in vitro or 40-100 mg/kg in vivo) (Singh *et al.*, 2019). Further, administration of EGb-761 in rat model with ischemic brain injury induced by middle cerebral artery occlusion (MCAO) improved neurological deficits through modulation of the proteins peroxiredoxin-2, protein phosphatase 2A subunit B, collapsing response mediator protein 2, adenosylhomocyteinase, pyruvate kinase isoenzyme, and isocitrate dehydrogenase has been observed (Sung *et al.*, 2012).

Administration of *EGb-761* in mouse model of AD attenuated the loss of synaptic structure proteins PSD-95, Munc18-1, and SNAP25, and inhibited β -secretase activity and A β aggregation. Notably, *EGb-761* extract protects against rat models of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells (Mahitra *et al.*, 1995). In addition, EGb-761 provided neuroprotection by alleviating demyelination and axonal loss and reducing serum concentrations of the phosphorylated neuro-filament heavy chain, tumor necrosis factor- α and interferon- γ (Hao *et al.*, 2016).

2.4.2.4 Impact of EGb-761 in ulcerative colitis and Alzheimer's disease

Administration of EGb-761 in a dextran sulfate sodium (DSS) mouse model of ulcerative colitis showed that the EGb-761 abated inflammation in vitro by modulating the pro-inflammatory markers iNOS, Cox-2 and TNF- α , p53 and p53-phospho-serine 15 (Kotakadi *et al.*, 2008).

The EGb-761 has been reported to ameliorate the effects of Alzheimer's disease (AD), a most common progressive human neurodegenerative disease among the elderly worldwide (Cui *et al.*, 2023). The characteristic effect of AD dementia is the progressive death of brain cells resulting in a deterioration in cognitive ability and daily functioning (Breijyeh & Karaman, 2020). Many pathophysiological pathways, including aberrant protein metabolism, the development of amyloid plaques that harm neuronal cells, inflammatory reactions, and oxidative stress, have

been explored as potential causes of AD. Phyto-polyphenolic compounds have shown promise in the development of effective AD drugs and therapeutics. For instance, studies have shown that *Gingko biloba* extract protects against beta-amyloid plaques formation, the hallmark of AD, by obstructing A β -induced events including oxidative stress leading to ROS (Reactive Oxygen Species) production (Singh *et al.*, 2019).

2.4.2.5 EGb-761 in cardiovascular diseases

Cardiovascular diseases are a complex of many cardiovascular and heart-related diseases including endocarditis, rheumatic heart disease, coronary heart disease (CHD), cerebrovascular disease, peripheral artery disease (PAD), and aortic atherosclerosis (Lopez *et al.*, 2022). In vitro, studies have demonstrated that EGb-761 can modify the liver's blood cholesterol levels by modulating the development of Apo lipoprotein B and LDL receptors (Noor-E-Tabassum *et al.*, 2022). In a study investigating the cardio protective effect of Gingko biloba extract, administration of *Gingko biloba* extract re-established autonomic imbalance in the heart by activating cholinergic signaling in a rat model of isoproterenol-induced cardiac hypertrophy (Mesquita *et al.*, 2017). However, a study investigating the potential of Gingko extract to prevent cardiovascular disease showed no significant effect of the extract on cardiovascular disease mortality and events (Kuller *et al.*, 2010). Therefore, there is a need to investigate further the roles played by individual components of EGb-761 to better understand its potential role in the management of various heart and cardiovascular diseases.

2.4.2.6 EGb-761 in hypertension and chronic kidney disease

Hypertension is one of the most significant causes of chronic kidney disease, a condition marked by a long-term decrease in kidney function and cumulative damage. End-stage renal disease, a progressive and irreversible loss of kidney function that is fatal without dialysis or kidney transplantation, is further exacerbated by chronic kidney disease. Studies investigating the potential role of EGb-761 on hypertension showed that no significant difference exists between test and placebo groups of elderly individuals with hypertension (Brinkley *et al.*, 2010). However, when used as an adjuvant therapy against hypertensive nephropathy, as compared with using antihypertensive drugs alone, combined treatment of EGb-761 and dipyramidole with antihypertensive drugs decreases 24-hour urinary total protein, blood urea nitrogen and serum creatinine (Jialiken *et al.*, 2021).

2.4.2.7 Immunomodulatory effects of EGb-761

The inflammatory immune response is an excessive systemic immune response induced by inflammatory immune cells leading to undesirable downstream effects on cellular and organ integrity (Ferrero-Miliani et al., 2007; Medzhitov, 2010). Immuno-modulators regulate immune function by ensuring that the immune responses are in check. Immunomodulation can either take natural or drug-induced forms. Gingko biloba polysaccharides have been examined against different diseases in animal models of disease and human disease to identify their role in modulating immune responses (Kaur et al., 2018). Gingko biloba polysaccharides (GBPS) particularly exhibit enhanced immunological and anticancer effects (Massieu et al., 2004). Ginkgolides have been shown to have anti-platelet-activating, anti-apoptotic, anti-oxidative, neurotrophic, and neuro-immunomodulatory properties in numerous studies by inhibition of Nuclear factor-kappa B (NF-kB) and mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) signaling pathways (Liu et al., 2023). In a study investigating immune stimulatory effects of Gingko *biloba* on oxidative stress and toxicity induced by the organophosphate insecticide diazinon, EGb-761 was shown to decrease peroxidase activity, immunoglobulin activity, and lysozyme activity in fish exposed to diazinon (Hajirezaee et al., 2019).

2.4.2.8 Protective role of EGb-761 against heavy metal toxicity

Ginkgolides have been shown to have neuro-immunomodulatory properties in numerous studies by inhibition of Nuclear factor-kappa B (NF-kB) and mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) signaling pathways driven by toxicants (Li *et al.*, 2020). In a study investigating the immunestimulatory effects of *Gingko biloba* on oxidative stress and toxicity induced by the organophosphate insecticide diazinon, EGb-761 was shown to decrease peroxidase activity, immunoglobulin activity, and lysozyme activity in fish exposed to diazinon (Hajirezaee *et al.*, 2019).

Contamination of food, water, and the environment by heavy metals has been an undesirable outcome of the industrialization process. Since the beginning of human activities such as mining, which started in pre-historic times, such metals have found their way closer to both human and animal living environments. Studies into the effects of heavy metal poisoning such as mercury, lead, chromium, cadmium, and arsenic have yielded important information on how to better avoid such contaminations. However, other sources of heavy metal poisoning include the use of old building materials still being used in water pipes. In Pakistan, for instance, one of the major causes of blood lead levels in children as of 2002 was leaded petrol (Kadir *et al.*, 2008). EGb-761 has previously been hypothesized to alleviate heavy metal poisoning. In animal models, it has been shown to alleviate lead poisoning (Amjad, 2020). Other studies have shown that EGb-761 can protect against mercury-induced oxidative damage in rats by mitigating oxidative stress in the brain, lung, liver, and kidney tissues (Amjad *et al.*, 2020). Furthermore, treatment with EGb-761 was observed to significantly reverse the cellular levels of GSH and malondialdehyde levels (Abdel-Emam & Abd-Eldayem, 2022).

CHAPTER THREE

MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Ethical Statement

The experimental guidelines and procedures pertaining to the use of mice were strictly observed and approval was obtained from the Faculty Biosafety, Animal use and Ethics committee of the University of Nairobi. Humane endpoints such as respiratory distress, unarousable coma, decerebrate rigidity, pouting, convulsions, retinal haemorrhages, and dysconjugate gaze were observed throughout the study to lessen animal suffering. This research was conducted in accordance with the internationally accepted principles for laboratory animal use and care, as stipulated in the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) and the ethical review committee for the use of laboratory animals. All the protocols concerning the use of mice were sought and approved by the Faculty Biosafety, Animal use and Ethics committee of the University of Nairobi (REF: FVM BAUEC/2022/351).

3.2 Animals and experimental design

This study utilized female Swiss white mice. Six to eight weeks-old female Swiss white mice were purchased from Biotechnology Research institute-Muguga. The experimental work and design for this study was based on the rules and guidelines of animal husbandry (Kilkenny *et al.*, 2010). The present study employed one control (naïve) group of mice and three treatment groups. Briefly, thirty-two (32) healthy female Swiss albino mice (6-8 weeks old) were randomly allotted into the four groups; each group containing 8 mice. Group 1 served as control and received distilled water and mice pellets. Group II mice received 98 mg/kg/day of sodium metabisulfite (SMB). Group III mice received 100 mg/kg/day of standardized *Ginkgo biloba* (EGb-76) and 98 mg/kg/day of SMB. EGb-76 is a well characterized and standardized extract of *Ginkgo biloba*

leaves that contains 24% flavone glycosides (primarily quercetin, kaempferol and isorhamnetin) and 6% terpene lactones (2.8-3.4% ginkgolides A, B and C, and 2.6-3.2% bilobalide). Notably, ginkgolide B and bilobalide constitute approximately 0.8% and 3% of the total extract, respectively (Clostre, 1999). Group IV mice received 100 mg/kg/day of EGb-761 only. The mice were exposed to the treatments through oral administration using gastric gavage for 40 days. The animals were housed in sterile plastic cages under a controlled room temperature of 23-25°C and a 12-hour light/dark cycle and allowed to acclimatize for one week before the start of the experiments. The mice were fed on pellets (Unga feeds, Kenya) and had access to clean water ad libitum.

3.3 Preparation of sodium metabisulfite and Ginkgo biloba

Sodium metabisulfite 98 mg/kg/day (Sigma Aldrich, St Louis, MO) and standardized *Ginkgo biloba* extract (EGb 761) (eCRATER USA) were prepared fresh daily by dissolving them in sterile distilled water. The choice of 100 mg/kg/day dosage of EGb-761was based on previous studies that showed potentiation of protective effects against lead-induced toxicity (Asiwa *et al.*, 2023; Yallapragada & Velaga, 2015; Asiwa *et al.*, 2022). The treatments were administered for 40 days orally by a gavage.

3.4 Determination of the body weights and relative organ weights (ROW)

The live body weights of animals from each experimental group were measured after every three days throughout the experimental period. Subsequently, the relative organ weight of each individual organ was determined by dividing the organ weight by the final body weight and then expressed as a percentage. The body and organ weights measurements were done using an analytical electronic balance (Mettler PM34, DoltaRange®).

3.5 Euthanization of mice and sample collection and preparation

After 40 days post-treatment mice were sacrificed through euthanization with ketamine (50 mg/ml) and xylazine (100 mg/ml) (Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany) in a ratio of 4:1 through intramuscular injection. Humane endpoints were monitored to limit suffering. A sick animal with clear health problems like unarousable coma, retinal haemorrhages, dysconjugate gaze, pouting, decerebrate rigidity, respiratory distress and convulsions prior to treatment and infection were euthanized by cervical dislocation under isoflurane. Blood samples were collected intra-cardially from individual mice and placed in heparinized tubes for complete hemogram analysis and for biochemical analysis, blood was collected in sterile Eppendorf tubes. To obtain serum, blood in the Eppendorf tubes was left to settle for one hour at normal room temperature and centrifuged at 10000 rpm at 4°C for 5mins (Centurion Scientific Ltd. K240R, UK). Mice were perfused with sterile PBS buffer after which spleens, kidneys, livers, lungs, hearts, and brains were harvested and placed in Eppendorf tubes that were under dry ice. Snap-frozen whole brains, kidneys, heart, lungs, spleen, and liver were homogenized on ice-cold water (4°C) in 0.5 ml of 0.25 M sucrose, 5 m MHepes-Tris, pH 7.4, with protease inhibitor cocktail to a final concentration of 10% (w/v).

3.6 Hematological determination, electrolytes, liver and kidney function and lipid profile analysis

Blood was collected through cardiac puncture and placed in EDTA tubes at the end of the treatment period to analyze the hematological parameters for each experimental mouse. This was done using hematology autoanalyzer (Sysmex XS 1000i Hematology Analyzer, WA, USA). The parameters generated from the hemogram include; Total Red Blood Cell count and red cell indices, Total White Blood cell and differential count, and total platelet count and related thrombocytic parameters. For serum analysis, blood samples were left to settle at room
temperature for 1 hour and centrifuged at 10000 rpm at 4° C for 5mins. Serum (supernatant) collected was stored at -20^oC.

Serum levels of liver enzyme markers: Alkaline phosphatase (ALP), Alanine aminotransferase (ALT), Aspartate aminotransferase (AST), Gamma-glutamyl transferase (GGT), direct and total bilirubin, creatinine, urea, uric acid and albumin. For lipid profile, the levels of total cholesterol, high density lipoprotein (HDL) and triglycerides were estimated. Furthermore, electrolytes (sodium, potassium and chloride), total proteins and immunoglobulins were assayed using an automatic analyzer (Integra 400 plus analyzer, Roche Diagnostics).

3.7 The Cytokine assays

Serum levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF- α and IFN- γ , and IL-10 anti-inflammatory cytokine were measured by sandwich enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) (Thermo Fischer Scientific, California, USA). The ELISA-kits were used according to the manufacturer's detailed protocol. Briefly, Corning Costar 9018 ELISA plates were coated with 50µl/well of capture antibody in coating buffer. The plates were sealed with para-film and incubated overnight at 4°C. The wells were then aspirated and washed three times with 250 µl/well wash buffer. In order to increase effectiveness of the washes, the plates were allowed to soak for about one minute. The plates were blotted on absorbent papers in order to remove any residual buffer. The wells were blocked with 200 µl/well of 1X Assay diluent then the plates were incubated at room temperature for 1 h. Standards were prepared by diluting the standard antibody with 1X assay diluent and then a two-fold serial dilution was performed of the top standards to make the standard curve for a total of 8 points. Then 100 µl/of the samples was added to the appropriate wells. The plates were sealed and then incubated at room temperature (RT) for 2 h (or overnight at 4°C for maximal sensitivity). The plates were further washed 3-5 times, after which

approximately 100µl/well of detection antibody was added to each micro-plate well followed by incubating the plate at room temperature for 1 h. The plate was washed 3-5 times by aspiration. After aspiration, Avidin-HRP was added; followed by incubating the plate at RT for another 30 min and then washed. Finally, the substrate solution was added to each well plate, and then the plate was incubated at room temperature for 15 min which was the sufficient time that was required for the reaction to occur. The reaction was stopped by additional of 50 µl of stop Solution (Conc H₂SO₄). The ELISA optical reader (Multiskan ex-355, Thermo Electron Corporation, Waltham, Massachusetts, USA) was used to measure the absorbance that was set at 450nm

3.8 Quantification of nitric oxide in plasma using Griess assay

The blood was collected intra-cardially after 40 days post-treatment. Nitric oxide (NO) was quantified as nitrite. Nitrates were reduced to nitrites by enzymatic conversion by nitrate reductase (SIGMA). The level of nitrites was determined by the Griess method. Briefly, Griess reagent was prepared by mixing equal volumes of components A (N-(1-naphthyl) ethylenedi-amine) and B (sulfanilic acid). Approximately 10 μ l of freshly prepared Griess reagent was then mixed with 75 μ l of sample/Aqua dest. Blank or standard (serial dilution 10 - 1 μ M) and 65 μ l of Aqua dest, to a total volume of 150 μ l. The mix was incubated for 30 min in the dark. NO production was then quantified by measuring colour change at 548nm.

3.9 Assessment of malondialdehyde (MDA) levels

To determine lipid peroxidation levels in murine brains, liver, serum, kidney, spleen, heart and lungs, malondialdehyde levels were measured by assays of thiobarbituric acid reactive species (TBARS) (Draper and Hadley, 1990). The organs were homogenized in cold phosphate buffer, pH 7.4 with BHT (final concentration 0.2%). Briefly, the organs homogenate samples (0.5 ml)

were mixed with equal volume of thiobarbituric acid 0.67% (Sigma Chemical, St. Louis, MO) and then heated at 92-96°C for 30 min. Thiobarbituric acid reactive species production was then quantified at 535nm using a spectrometer.

3.10 Reduced glutathione (GSH) assay

Glutathione standard of 200 µmol/l was prepared in 0.5% sulphosalicylic acid (SSA). The standard control was prepared by two-fold serial dilution of 0.5% SSA in wells A1-12. This was done by dispensing 100µl of GSH standard with 0.5% SSA in A1-12. Then, a volume of 100µl of 0.5% SSA was transferred to A1 and mixed well. Next, 100µl of A1 contents was drawn and transferred to A2. This process was done up to well A12 and the remaining 100µl drawn from A12 well discarded. Then, a volume of 50µl of brain/liver/kidney/lungs/heart and spleen tissue homogenates was mixed with 50µl sulphosalicylic acid (5% w/v) and 0.25mM EDTA and centrifuged at 10000 rpm. The GSH standard (25µl) was then loaded in the first two columns of the plate, specifically wells B–H. Then, 25µl of the sample was loaded to the remaining wells. One hundred microliter of the substrate; the Elman's reagent (DNTB) was then added to each well. Absorbance was measured at 405nm using a multi-detection microtitre plate reader (Bio-Tek Synergy HT).

3.11 Histopathological analysis of the liver, brain and kidney

The Liver, brain and kidney samples were rinsed in phosphate-buffered saline, placed in a fixative (10% formalin) and then stored at room temperature until further analysis. The tissues were processed by dehydration in ascending grades (50%, 70%, 90%, 95% and 100%) of alcohol and embedded in paraffin wax in the automatic tissue processor. Sections of 5µm thickness were cut using a HM310 rotary microtome and mounted on Mayer's egg albumin-coated glass slides. Each section was de-waxed in two changes of xylene for two minutes, then rehydrated through descending grades of alcohol for thirty minutes (100%, 95%, 90%, 70%, and 50%) and further washed in tap water. Water was gradually removed from the tissues to prevent sudden shrinkage and rapture of the cells. The sections were then stained with hematoxylin and then stained with

eosin (1% for 2min). The sections were then dehydrated in ascending grades of alcohol for thirty minutes (70%, 80%, 95%, and 100%), cleared in three changes of xylene and mounted in DPX and examined microscopically (400X).

3.12 Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was done using the GraphPad Prism software package (Version 5.0). Oneway ANOVA was done to compare the treatment groups with controls. For internal comparisons, Turkey's post hoc test was used. The results were given as a mean \pm with significance set at p<0.05.

CHAPTER FOUR

RESULTS

3.1. Effects of SMB and EGb-761on body weight and organ weights

There was a progressive a progressive increase in the live mean weight across all the groups of mice up to 18 days post-treatment. However, an intermediary decrease in body weight was observed in mice orally administered with SMB relative to other groups of mice (Fig. 3.1). Notably, this decrease in general body weight was reversed by EGb-761 administration.



Figure 5.1: The effects of *Ginkgo biloba* on sodium metabisulfite driven change in the general body weight. Change in body weight was analysed using one-way ANOVA with Tukey's test for group comparisons.

3.2. Effects of SMB and EGb-761on relative organ weights

In the present study, SMB administration did not demonstrate any adverse effects on the relative organ weights, since the relative organ weights for the liver, spleen, lungs, kidney, brain, and heart were comparable across all the treatment groups (Fig. 3.2A-F).



Figure 6.2: The effects of *Ginkgo biloba* on sodium metabisulfite driven change in the relative organ weight. Change in the relative organ weight was analysed using one-way ANOVA with Tukey's test for group comparisons.

3.3. The effects of SMB and EGb-761 on red blood cells, packed cell volume and hemoglobin

Exposure of mice to SMB led to a significant reduction in the red blood cells (RBC), hemoglobin (HGB), and packed cell volume (PCV) (Fig. 3.3A-C), an indication of anemia. However, this suppression of RBC, HGB, and PCV levels was reversed by EGb-761 administration.



Figure 3.3: Effect of sodium metabisulfite and/or *Ginkgo biloba* administration on PCV, RBCs, and HGB in mice. Mean comparison procedures were done with one-way ANOVA with Tukey multiple comparison post hoc test. The results are expressed as \pm SEM. The indicated level of significance *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001.

3.4. The effects of SMB and EGb-761 on red cell indices

The findings from the current study reveal a significant decrease in the levels of mean corpuscular volume (MCV), mean corpuscular hemoglobin (MCH), and mean corpuscular hemoglobin concentration (MCHC) in the SMB treated group of mice. The values of these parameters were reversed in the EGb-761-treated groups (Fig. 3.4A-C). On the contrary, the levels of red cell distribution width standard deviation (RDW-SD) and red cell distribution width coefficient of variation (RDW-CV) were comparable across all the treatment groups (Fig. 3.4D-E).



Figure 3.4: Effect of sodium metabisulfite and/or *Ginkgo biloba* administration on red blood cell indices in mice. Mean comparison procedures were done with one-way ANOVA with Tukey multiple comparison post hoc test. The results are expressed as \pm SEM. The indicated level of significance *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001.

3.5. Effects of SMB and Ginkgo biloba on white blood cells and its sub-types

Exposure to SMB resulted in a significant increase in the levels of total white blood cells count (WBC) relative to those in the control group (Fig. 3.5A). Remarkably, administration of EGb-761 significantly restored SMB-driven leukocytosis. The results of WBC sub-types further confirmed that exposure to SMB resulted in a significant reduction in neutrophils (Fig. 3.5B), which were upregulated in the EGb-761-treated mice. Further, the levels of monocytes (Fig. 3.5C), basophil (Fig. 3.5D), and lymphocytes (Fig. 3.5E) were significantly elevated following exposure to SMB, EGb-761-blocked such SMB-driven elevation change. On the contrary, there

was no statistical significant difference in the levels of eosinophils across all the treatment groups (Fig. 3.5F).



Figure 3.5: Effect of sodium metabisulfite and/or *Ginkgo biloba* administration on WBC and sub-types in mice. Mean comparison procedures were done with one-way ANOVA with Tukey multiple comparison post hoc test. The results are expressed as \pm SEM. The indicated level of significance *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001.

3.6. Effects of sodium metabisulfite and Ginkgo biloba on platelets and its indices

Exposure of mice to SMB led to a significant decrease in platelet levels when compared to the control group (Fig. 3.6A), denoting thrombocytopenia which was restored by EGb-761 administration. An analysis of the platelet indices showed SMB-driven down-regulation of the mean platelet volume (MPV) (Fig. 3.6B), platelet large cell ratio (P-LCR) (Fig. 3.6C), platelet distribution width (PDW) (Fig. 3.6D), such changes were not present in the EGb-761 treated mice. The levels of plateletcrit (PCT) were unaffected by the treatments (Fig. 3.6E).



Figure 3.6: Effect of sodium metabisulfite and/or *Ginkgo biloba* administration on platelets and platelet sub-types in mice. Mean comparison procedures were done with one-way ANOVA with Tukey multiple comparison post hoc test. The results are expressed as \pm SEM. The indicated level of significance *p<0.05, **p<0.01.

3.7. Effects of sodium metabisulfite and Ginkgo biloba on serum lipid levels

The SMB-administered mice showed a significant increase in the total cholesterol and triglyceride levels when compared to the control group (Fig. 3.7A-B respectively). Notably, the administration of EGb-761 significantly attenuated the SMB-induced increase in the total cholesterol and triglycerides. In contrast, the levels of high-density lipoprotein (HDL) were significantly decreased in SMB-treated mice when compared to control. Evidently, treatment with EGb-761 stabilized lipid levels across the board (Fig. 3.7C).



Figure 3.7: Effect of sodium metabisulfite and/or *Ginkgo biloba* administration on lipid profile. Mean comparison procedures were done with one-way ANOVA with Tukey multiple comparison post hoc test. The results are expressed as \pm SEM. The indicated level of significance *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001.

3.8. Effects of SMB and Ginkgo biloba on liver function

Serum activities of ALT, AST, and ALP were significantly increased in the SMB-treated group compared to the control (Fig. 3.8A-C), indicative of active liver injury. Intriguingly, administration with EGb-761 protected mice against SMB-induced liver damage.



Figure 3.8: Effect of sodium metabisulfite and/or *Ginkgo biloba* on the levels of liver enzymes. Mean comparison procedures were done with one-way ANOVA with Tukey multiple

comparison post hoc test. The results are expressed as \pm SEM. The indicated level of significance *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001.

3.9. Effects of SMB and Ginkgo biloba on hepatic levels of bilirubin and gamma-

glutamyltransferase

In addition, our results indicated the serum levels of direct bilirubin and total bilirubin activities were significantly increased in mice exposed to SMB, which were reduced in the EGb-761-treated group (Fig. 3.9A-B). On the other hand, hepatic gamma-glutamyltransferase (GGT) was comparable in all the treated groups (Fig. 3.9C).



Figure 3.9: Effect of sodium metabisulfite and/or *Ginkgo biloba* on the levels of bilirubin and GGT. Mean comparison procedures were done with one-way ANOVA with Tukey multiple comparison post hoc test. The results are expressed as \pm SEM. The indicated level of significance *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001.

3.10. The impact of SMB and Ginkgo biloba kidney function

Exposure of mice to SMB caused a significant increase in the serum levels of creatinine, urea, and uric acid in comparison to the controls (Fig. 3.10A-C). These heightened levels of creatinine, urea, and uric acid were reduced by treatment with EGb-761. Conversely, SMB caused a significant decrease in serum albumin levels; such changes were nullified by EGb-761 (Fig. 3.10D).



Figure 3.10: Comparison of the effect of sodium metabisulfite and/or *Ginkgo biloba* administration on the levels of creatinine, urea, uric acid and albumin. Mean comparison procedures were done with one-way ANOVA with Tukey multiple comparison post hoc test. The results are expressed as \pm SEM. The indicated level of significance *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001.

3.11. The impact of sodium metabisulfite and Ginkgo biloba on potassium, sodium and

chloride ions

Exposure to SMB resulted in a significant decrease in the serum levels of potassium, sodium, and chloride ions (Fig. 3.11A-C respectively), indicative of SMB-driven active metabolic acidosis. In the presence of EGb-761, this phenomenon was alleviated.



Figure 3.11: The effect of sodium metabisulfite and/or *Ginkgo biloba* administration on the levels of serum electrolytes. Mean comparison procedures were done with one-way ANOVA with Tukey multiple comparison post hoc test. The results are expressed as \pm SEM. The indicated level of significance *p<0.05, **p<0.01.

3.12. The impact of sodium metabisulfite and Ginkgo biloba on malondialdehyde levels

Exposure to SMB resulted in a significant increase in the levels of malondialdehyde (MDA) in the liver, brain, spleen, and lungs relative to the control (Fig. 3.12A-D respectively); depicting SMB-driven lipid peroxidation. Treatment with EGb-761 was able to alleviate this SMB-driven augmentation of MDA levels.



Figure 3.12: Comparison of the effect of sodium metabisulfite and/or *Ginkgo biloba* administration on the levels of malondialdehyde. Mean comparison procedures were done with one-way ANOVA with Tukey multiple comparison post hoc test. The results are expressed as \pm SEM. The indicated level of significance *p<0.05, ***p<0.001.

3.13. The impact of sodium metabisulfite and *Ginkgo biloba* on serum, heart and kidney malondialdehyde levels

Exposure to SMB resulted in a significant increase in the levels of malondialdehyde (MDA) in the kidney and serum relative to the control (Fig. 3.13A-B respectively); depicting SMB-driven lipid peroxidation. Treatment with EGb-761 was able to alleviate this SMB-driven augmentation of MDA levels. In stark contrast, MDA levels in the heart were comparable for the normal control and mice that were administered with SMB and EGb-761 (Fig. 3.13C).



Figure 3.13: Comparison of the effect of sodium metabisulfite and/or *Ginkgo biloba* administration on the levels of MDA. Mean comparison procedures were done with one-way ANOVA with Tukey multiple comparison post hoc test. The results are expressed as \pm SEM. The indicated level of significance *p<0.05, ***p<0.001.

3.14. Effects of sodium metabisulfite and *Ginkgo biloba* on the levels of reduced glutathione

The principal component analysis of reduced glutathione (GSH) revealed that exposure to SMB resulted in a significant depletion of liver, brain, and heart GSH levels when compared to the control group (Fig. 3.14A-C). Treatment of mice with EGb-761 significantly restored the levels of both hepatic and brain GSH levels. Furthermore, the results from the present study revealed that exposure to SMB caused a significant increase in the cellular GSH levels in the spleen,

which was restored in the presence of EGb-761 (Fig. 3.14D), reflecting the ameliorative effect of EGb-761 against SMB-induced oxidative stress in these organs.



Figure 3.14: Comparison of the effect of sodium metabisulfite and/or *Ginkgo biloba* administration on the levels of cellular reduced glutathione concentration in mice. Mean comparison procedures were done with one-way ANOVA with Tukey multiple comparison post hoc test. The results are expressed as \pm SEM. The indicated level of significance *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001.

3.15. Effects of sodium metabisulfite and Ginkgo biloba on GSH levels of lungs and kidney

The results from the present study revealed that exposure to SMB caused a significant increase in the cellular GSH levels in the lungs and kidney, which was restored in the presence of EGb-761 (Fig. 3.15A-B), reflecting the protective effect of EGb-761 against SMB-driven oxidative stress in these organs.



Figure 3.15: Comparison of the effect of sodium metabisulfite and/or *Ginkgo biloba* administration on the levels of cellular reduced glutathione concentration in mice. Mean comparison procedures were done with one-way ANOVA with Tukey multiple comparison post hoc test. The results are expressed as \pm SEM. The indicated level of significance *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001.

3.16. Effects of sodium metabisulfite and *Ginkgo biloba* on nitric oxide levels

The levels of NO were significantly increased upon exposure of mice to SMB when compared to the control (Fig. 3.16). Administration of EGb-761 decreased the SMB -induced increase of serum NO levels.



Figure 3.16: Effect of sodium metabisulfite and/or *Ginkgo biloba* administration on the levels of nitric oxide in mice. Mean comparison procedures were done with one-way ANOVA with Tukey multiple comparison post hoc test. The results are expressed as \pm SEM. The indicated level of significance *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001.

3.17. Effects of sodium metabisulfite and Ginkgo biloba on cytokine levels

Exposure to SMB caused a significant elevation of the pro-inflammatory cytokine tumor necrotic factor-alpha (TNF- α) and interferon-gamma (IFN- γ) (Fig. 3.17A-B), indicative of inflammatory responses. Notably, this increase in pro-inflammatory cytokines was diminished in the presence of EGb-761. The serum levels of the anti-inflammatory cytokine interleukin-10 (IL-10) were comparable in all treated and control groups of mice (Fig. 3.17C). An analysis of the ratios of the pro-inflammatory cytokines versus the anti-inflammatory cytokines TNF- α :IL-10 and IFN- γ -IL-10, revealed that the ratios were significantly higher in SMB exposed group of mice; which were reduced in the presence of EGb-761 (Fig. 3.17D-E).



Figure 3.17: Comparison of the effect of sodium metabisulfite and/or *Ginkgo biloba* administration on the levels of the cytokines. Mean comparison procedures were done with one-way ANOVA with Tukey multiple comparison post hoc test. The results are expressed as \pm SEM. The indicated level of significance *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001.

3.18. Effects of sodium metabisulfite and *Ginkgo biloba* on total immunoglobulins and protein levels

Exposure to SMB caused a significant elevation of total immunoglobulins (Fig. 3.18A), suggestive of induction of immune responses. Notably, this increase in total immunoglobulins was restored in the presence of EGb-761. Further, the serum levels of total proteins were significantly elevated in SMB treated mice relative to the control groups of mice (Fig. 3.18B). Administration of EGb-761 stabilized the SMB -induced increase of serum total protein levels.



Figure 3.18: Comparison of the effect of sodium metabisulfite and/or *Ginkgo biloba* administration on the levels of immunoglobulins and total proteins. Mean comparison procedures were done with one-way ANOVA with Tukey multiple comparison post hoc test. The results are expressed as \pm SEM. The indicated level of significance *p<0.05, **p<0.01.

3.19. Histopathological analysis of the effects of *Ginkgo biloba* on mice liver tissues following sodium metabisulfite exposure

Earlier experiments in this study already demonstrated that EGb-761 prevented SMB-induced liver damage. To corroborate the results, this study further performed a histopathological examination of the liver tissues. Mice treated with SMB had visible hepatic injury demonstrated by diffuse fatty infiltration and hepatocyte necrosis (Fig. 3.19). Oral administration of EGb-761 appeared to protect mice from SMB-induced liver injury.



SMB + EGb-761

EGb-761

Figure 3.19: Effects of EGb-761 on mice liver tissues upon exposure to SMB. Normal liver tissue from the control group showing normal tissue with Hepatocyte vacuolation (arrow head); Liver section from SMB group showing diffuse fatty infiltration, hepatocyte necrosis (arrow), Liver section from mice exposed to SMB and EGb-761 showing diffuse fatty infiltration (arrow) and Liver section from mice exposed to EGb-761 showing normal architecture with hepatocyte vacuolation (arrow head). Histological examination was done using Hematoxylin and Eosin staining. Magnification: x400.

3.20. Histopathological analysis of the effects of *Ginkgo biloba* on mice kidney tissues following sodium metabisulfite exposure

Histological examination on the kidney tissue of mice administered with SMB revealed multifocal vascular congestion and interstitial hemorrhages (Fig. 3.20). Treatment with EGb-761 attenuated SMB-induced renal injury.



Figure 3.20: the effect of sodium metabisulfite and/or *Ginkgo biloba* **on the liver tissue.** Normal kidney tissue from the control group; Kidney section from SMB group showing multifocal vascular congestion (C) and interstitial hemorrhages (star), Kidney section from mice exposed to SMM and EGb-761 showing normal kidney tissue and (d) Normal kidney tissue from the EGb-761 group of mice. Histological examination was done using Hematoxylin and Eosin staining. Magnification: x400.

3.21. Histopathological analysis of the effects of *Ginkgo biloba* on mice brain tissues following sodium metabisulfite exposure

Brain sections from the control and treated groups had normal brain cellular architecture (Fig. 3.21).



Figure 3.21: The figure shows the effect of sodium metabisulfite and/or *Ginkgo biloba* **on the brain tissue.** Normal brain tissue of mice from control group and treatment groups. Histological examination was done using Hematoxylin and Eosin staining. Magnification: x400.

CHAPTER FIVE

DISCUSSION

5.1 The effect of EGb-761 supplementation against SMB driven alteration of host physiological and hematological alterations

Food preservatives are widely employed to circumvent food contamination due to microbial growth or undesirable chemical variations in packaged and stored food (Leyva *et al.*, 2017). In the face of the well-known application of these preservatives in the beverage and food industry, the extent of their detrimental and toxic impact requires scrutiny. Sodium metabisulfite (SMB) is commonly used as a preservative in food processing and consumer products to combat the growth of microorganisms (Zhang *et al.*, 2015). Excessive consumption of SMB, either through higher dosages or prolonged usage, causes many undesirable toxic and adverse effects (Ercan *et al.*, 2010).

It is increasingly evident that overuse of food additives used as preservatives can significantly increase the development of human diseases (Mepham, 2011). *Ginkgo biloba* leave extract is a potent antioxidant and anti-inflammatory agent. Besides this, it has been shown to have immunomodulatory effects as well as offer protection against various drug-induced organ pathologies. In this study, the role of standardized *Gingko biloba* leaf extract (EGb-761) in ameliorating sodium metabisulfite (SMB)-induced toxicities was evaluated. From our study, SMB induced hematotoxicity, oxidative stress and disrupted immune function in mice. It was noted that most of these negative effects were markedly attenuated in the presence of EGb-761. In this study, exposure to SMB-induced weight loss in mice relative to the control. Similar findings have been evident before in rats fed on high doses of SMB (El-Kadi *et al.*, 2014; Aslam, 2022), as well as pigs and rabbits (Til *et al.*, 1972; Miyata *et al.*, 1990). SMB-induced changes in

feeding behavior contributed to the loss of weight. Furthermore, the weight loss following SMB exposure could be due to toxicological effects of SMB (Yoo *et al.*, 2018). Administration of EGb-761significantly attenuated the SMB-induced weight loss. It is plausible to assume that the lipolysis-inducing property of EGb-761 may have contributed to this outcome as shown in a previous study (Hirata *et al.*, 2019).

Interference with production of blood cells by chemical toxins is a common phenomenon with serious health implications. There was clear evidence of SMB-driven decrease in the levels of RBCs, HGB, PCV and the red cell indices, suggestive of anaemia. These results corroborate a recently conducted study by Aslam [2022]; which showed that sulphites provoked a significant production of ROS that resulted in oxidative damage of the RBC membrane. In addition, RBC damage can be linked to lysis or feasible shrinkage of erythrocytes in blood (Hezbullah et al., 2016). The decline in the frequency of PCV may be associated with the reduction in the size of RBCs and the drop in the rate of synthesis of hemoglobin, which in turn controls the development and maturation of RBCs. Notably, MCH levels provides an indication of the actual content of hemoglobin in the RBC cytoplasm. Hence, MCV and MCHC levels are dependent upon the content of RBCs (Grings et al., 2016). Possibly the decrease in MCHC could be associated with the toxic effects of SMB in the bone marrow impairing its ability to produce hemoglobin at a requisite rate. Such effects on the hematopoiesis, would affect synthesis and production of all blood cells, consequently affecting transport of oxygen and immune function. In the current study, it was demonstrated that EGb-761 reversed the SMB-induced anemia, indicative of a beneficial modulatory effect of EGb-761 on the hematopoietic system. These outcomes may be ascribed to the suppressive effect of SMB on the host hematopoiesis system. Ginkgo biloba has demonstrated a robust capacity to impede lipid peroxidation of RBC

membranes, glutathione depletion and methaemoglobin development (He *et al.*, 2009). It is therefore plausible that these effects of EGb-761 may be played a fundamental role, and perhaps protected the RBC from SMB-induced oxidant driven damage.

White Blood Cells, also known as leukocytes are highly versatile and play a critical role in coordinating and shaping the immune response. Any chemical driven changes on WBCs would have a detrimental impact on immunity. In this study, exposure to SMB significantly increased the levels of WBCs, lymphocytes, basophils and monocytes. Such findings had previously been shown by El-Kadi et al. (2014). From this study SMB induced leukocytosis, perhaps due to stimulation of the lymphoproliferative responses by sulphites. A remarkable SMB-driven depletion of Neutrophils was noted. Such suppression of neutrophils has the potential to predispose individuals to bacterial infections. Moreover, monocytosis and a significant increase in levels of basophils that was observed in mice exposed to SMB in the present study, may predispose to inflammation-related ailments, given that effector basophils monocytes are implicated in inflammatory responses (Das et al., 2015; Masamoto et al., 2009). Remarkably, the findings from this study demonstrated that treatment with EGb-761 can alleviate these detrimental effects due to its ability to stabilize WBCs levels in the presence of SMB. The mechanism by which Ginkgo biloba ameliorates SMB-driven derangement of WBC and its subtypes could be multifactorial perhaps due to its anti-oxidant and anti-inflammatory activities (Abdel-Emam & Abd-Eldayem, 2022).

Platelets in tandem with coagulation factors are indispensable during the thrombosis and hemostasis processes. Further, platelets are involved in the inflammatory response and wound healing (Budak *et al.*, 2016). Therefore, a change in the content of platelet levels will critically interfere with these vital physiological and biochemical processes and presents a higher threat for

patients on blood thinning drugs (Mwaeni *et al.*, 2021). To this end, exposure to SMB significantly suppressed platelet levels as well as MPV, P-LCR and PDW, a clear indication of thrombocytopenia. From this study, treatment with EGb-761 significantly attenuated SMB-driven thrombocytopenia. These findings suggest that EGb-761 may have a modulatory role on the thrombocytosis and hemostasis process. This phenomenon warrants further inquiry. Collectively, the results demonstrate that SMB negatively affected the hematopoietic processes. Importantly, EGb-761 supplementation reversed the SMB-induced hematotoxicity.

5.2 The impact of EGb-761 administration against SMB driven alteration of lipid profile

Lipid metabolism plays a critical role as an important source of macromolecular structures for the cell as well as a source of cellular energy. Consequently, alteration in lipid play a significant part in several pathophysiological disorders (Lee *et al.*, 2003). In the current study, exposure to SMB resulted in a significant elevation of total cholesterol and triglycerides with a concomitant decrease in the levels of high-density lipoproteins. This implies that people suffering from metabolic disorders and who are constantly exposed to SMB may aggravate the development of severe forms of the disease. In the presence of EGb-761, lipids metabolism was stabilized, demonstrating a possible modulatory role of *Ginkgo biloba* in lipid metabolism (Hirata *et al.*, 2019). In a previous study, exposure to SMB was shown to influence lipid metabolism through increased release of free fatty acids (FFA) into the plasma (Elmas *et al.*, 2005); usually accompanied with inhibition of the enzyme lipase resulting in severe hypertriglyceridemia and hypercholesterolemia (Elmas *et al.*, 2005).

5.3 The impact of oral administration of EGb-761 against SMB driven kidney, liver damage and metabolic acidosis

Sodium metabisulfite has been directly linked with severe liver damage in several studies (Aslam, 2022; El-Kadi *et al.*, 2014). In this study, liver enzymes that are important metric indexes of liver injury were measured to evaluate whether exposure to SMB affected liver function; and if administration of EGb-761 protected from SMB-driven liver damage. Herein, it can be reported, that exposure to SMB significantly increased serum AST, ALT and ALP, denoting liver damage. SMB-driven liver injury has been demonstrated in a prior study (Aslam, 2022). The levels of these enzymes are elevated and released into the plasma under hepatocellular membrane stress, depicting liver injury (El-Kadi *et al.*, 2014). It is noteworthy that in the presence of EGb-761 the SMB-driven elevation of liver enzymes was abrogated.

Bilirubin is a by-product released following prompt destruction of the RBC. Heightened levels of bilirubin and its buildup in the hepatocellular environment result in inflammation and organ injury (Kalakonda & John, 2018). SMB-induced significant elevation of bilirubin. Notably, SMB-driven elevation of bilirubin was attenuated by oral administration of EGb-761. Since bilirubin is a product of RBC breakdown, the results point to a possible novel protective effect on the liver and RBCs.

Additional investigations determined the integrity of renal function in the presence of SMB and EGb-761. Creatinine and urea are important markers of kidney function, and their upsurge or reduction mirrors a dysfunction of the kidney (Thadhani *et al.*, 1996).Indeed, the breakdown of liver protein compounds has been implicated in the intensification of urea and creatinine levels in animal models (El Kadi *et al.*, 2014). These increased levels of urea and creatinine may be linked to the kidney injury that was observed in this study as revealed by a significant increase

of serum creatinine and urea levels in mice exposed to SMB. The observed upsurge in serum levels of uric acid may be attributed to the reduction in urinary excretion of the metabolites. Notably, it can be revealed that SMB-driven kidney injury was attenuated by administration of EGb-761; inferring protection against nephrotoxicity. This result is in harmony with the previous work where *Ginkgo biloba* was observed to have a renoprotective effect against cisplastin-induced nephrotoxicity and renal damage due to ischemic reperfusion (Okuyan *et al.*, 2012; Song *et al.*, 2013; Sener *et al.*, 2005).

Uric acid is the end product of purine degradation (Borghi *et al.*, 2020). Hyperuricemia has been implicated as a driving force behind cognitive impairment, cardiovascular maladies, and oxidative stress (Tian *et al.*, 2021). In the present study, mice exposed to SMB had significantly high uric acid levels, which is in agreement with prior studies (Aslam, 2022). Augmented levels of uric acid are associated with increased production of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α , IL-1 β and IL-6 (Busso and So, 2010; Gallego-Delgado *et al.*, 2014). Thus, SMB-driven elevation of uric acids may in part, contribute to inflammation of the kidney and liver, which will directly exacerbate the pathophysiology of these organs. This study reports that administration of EGb-761, significantly reduced these elevated levels of uric acid. This modulation of uric acid by EGb-761may attenuate SMB-driven toxicity and inflammation of the kidney and liver.

Serum albumin is a crucial protein with vital physiological role and antioxidant activities (Chien *et al.*, 2017). It is produced in the liver and can be used as a biomarker for early liver impairment and chronic liver disease (Das *et al.*, 2019). In the current study, serum albumin levels in mice exposed to SMB and *Ginkgo biloba* was assessed. Exposure of mice to SMB resulted in a significant decrease in the serum levels of serum albumin, indicative of liver impairment. It was

clear that, EGb-761treatment of SMB-exposed mice significantly increased the levels of serum albumin, demonstrating protection against liver injury.

Metabolic acidosis is a common condition characterized by a fall in pH by several toxins (Emmett, 2022). Additionally, metabolic acidosis is usually an indication of a serious pathological states. Thus understanding how exposure to toxicants like SMB disrupts the physiological pH buffering system is important. A significant sodium metabisulfite-driven metabolic acidosis was noted in the present study as demonstrated by a significant decrease in serum levels of potassium, sodium and chloride ions. Metabolic acidosis often arises, partly when there is the acceleration of movement of sodium ions into the cell in response to severe intracellular acidosis with the potential for cell dysfunction. Notably, SMB-driven metabolic acidosis was prevented by EGb-761 administration. This observation may be ascribed to its role in the maintenance of the membrane ultrastructure against lethal effects associated with the generation of free radicals as well as protection against modulation of enzymatic systems and ionic pumps (Clostre, 1986). Nevertheless, the mechanisms by which EGb-761 regulates metabolic acidosis merit further investigations.

5.4 The impact of EGb-761 administration against SMB driven oxidative events and inflammation

Oxidative stress is a phenomenon that is known to underlie or even aggravate the pathogenesis of several disease processes including but not limited to cancer, atherosclerosis, neurodegenerative diseases hypertension, diabetes mellitus, cardiovascular disease, atherosclerosis, reproductive system diseases, and aging (Kruk *et al.*, 2019). Moreover, elevated levels of lipid peroxides resulting from augmented production of free radicals may be important molecular mechanisms for sodium metabisulfite-associated deleterious effects (Rahal *et al.*, 2014). The uncontrolled

oxidation of sulphite into sulphite-free radicals may trigger sulphite-driven lipid peroxidation (Derin *et al.*, 2006). Additionally, uncontrolled lipid peroxidation may drive the production of malondialdehyde (MDA). MDA is a critical marker of lipid peroxidation (CipakGasparovic *et al.*, 2017). In the current study, exposure of mice to SMB led to an increase in tissue and serum MDA, indicating presence of lipid peroxidation. Remarkably, the administration of EGb-761 attenuated an SMB-driven increase in MDA levels, a protective effect that can be attributed to its antioxidant properties. These results are in line with published data (Kaur *et al.*, 2018; Abdel-Emam & Abd-Eldayem, 2022), that demonstrated the ability of EGb-761to scavenge free radicals with concomitant reduction in MDA associated with lipid peroxidation.

Indeed, oxidative stress is known to cause damage to important cellular biomolecules (Duygu *et al.*, 2012). Besides, accumulating evidence has shown that due to its sulphites and its derivatives , SMB can cause oxidative stress as a result of sulfite oxidation and DNA damage in vital organs like the liver, brain, lung, and spleen (Chiarani *et al.*, 2008; Bai and Meng, 2005; Gordon *et al.*, 2004).

In the physiological environment, cells cope with excessive ROS using a highly versatile and potent endogenous antioxidant enzymes consisting of GSH, superoxide dismutase (SOD), glutathione peroxidase and catalases. Depletion of these important antioxidant systems elicits elevation of lethal ROS, thus causing oxidative stress. Consequently, levels of anti-oxidant enzymes such as GSH are very good indicators of oxidative stress. In agreement with the earlier findings (Ozturk *et al.*, 2019), SMB administration significantly depleted GSH levels in the liver, brain and heart with elevation of GSH being observed in the spleen, lungs and kidney, indicative of oxidative stress. Depletion of GSH is a clear indication of overwhelming and lethal oxidative

stress levels; whereas is characteristically associated with an initial response to rising levels of oxidative stress (Oula *et al.*, 2023; Ngatuni *et al.*, 2022; Kennedy *et al.*, 2020).

Ginkgo biloba has been proposed as an antioxidant agent in numerous studies (Rojas *et al.*, 2016; Nowak *et al.*, 2017; Tewari *et al.*, 2017; Cefali *et al.*, 2019). Recently it has been shown to exert its effect directly by scavenging ROS or elevating the expression of genes encoding antioxidant enzymes (Nowak *et al.*, 2021). Moreover, both in vitro and in vivo studies have shown that the antioxidant property of *Ginkgo biloba* is associated with its flavonoid components, like kaempferol and quercetin that suppress ROS (Xin *et al.*, 2000; Smith and Luo, 2003). The antioxidant activity of EGb-761 using GSH levels following exposure of mice to SMB was also investigated. Remarkably, this is the first study demonstrating that EGb-761 administration resulted in the assuaging oxidative stress by SMB in vital organs such as brain, liver, kidney, lungs, spleen and heart.

The induction of nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) leads to the elevation of nitric oxide (NO), leading to the inhibition of the respiratory chain and a reduction in ATP formation (Barker *et al.*, 1996). Besides, the excessive production of NO is the hallmark of different pathological disorders (Pacher *et al.*, 2007). Specifically, NO facilitate generation of lethal reactive metabolite, peroxynitrite (ONOO⁻) (Alvarez & Radi, 2003), which nitrate vital lipids, nucleic acids, proteins and/or enzymes in the physiological environment of vital organs, altering their structure and rendering them dysfunctional. Moreover, NO-mediated inflammatory processes and oxidative stress events have also been outlined (Sharma *et al.*, 2007; Lubos *et al.*, 2008). Given that many toxic chemicals induce inflammation and oxidative stress, the identification of novel compounds that are good candidates for the downregulation of inflammatory mediators is of great significance. It was observed from the present study that exposure of mice to SMB resulted in a

significant increase in the serum levels of NO. Remarkably, EGb-761 nullified SMB-induced elevation of NO. Overwhelming evidence has demonstrated that *Ginkgo biloba* protects cells from NO-induced neurotoxicity and a number of inflammatory mediators (Massieu *et al.*, 2004; Eckert *et al.*, 2005; Wadsworth *et al.*, 2001). Thus, the protective ability of EGb-761against SMB, noted in the current study, may be associated with its proven anti-inflammatory and anti-oxidant activities (Kaur *et al.*, 2018).

The body gets rid of detrimental stimuli such as toxic compounds and invading pathogens by mounting strong immune responses (Ferrero-Miliani et al., 2007; Medzhitov, 2010). Exposure to SMB has been demonstrated to enhance the pyroptosis process which ultimately results in increased amounts of pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1ß and IL-18 (Liu et al., 2023). Impairment of these processes due to continuous exposure to sodium metabisulfite may cause chronic inflammation. This study revealed that exposure to SMB resulted in a significant increase of serum TNF- α and IFN- γ , indicative of active SMB-induced inflammation. In the presence of EGb-761, SMB-induced elevation of these pro-inflammatory cytokines was abrogated. It is well documented that a balance between anti-inflammatory and pro-inflammatory cytokines defines the inflammatory state of the cellular environment. Thus, determining the ratio between the pro and anti-inflammatory cytokines may help to determine the degree of inflammatory status due to SMB exposure. Furthermore, the current study demonstrate a noticeable imbalance of proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines in an SMB-administered group of mice that reflects aggravated inflammation. Additionally, the anti-inflammatory effects of EGb-761 treatment were also confirmed by a stable balance between pro-inflammatory and antiinflammatory cytokines, once again showing the anti-inflammatory action of EGb-761. The antiinflammatory properties of *Ginkgo biloba* have been proven in several studies (Abdel-Emam &

Abd-Eldayem, 2022; Pizza *et al.*, 2019; Ilieva *et al.*, 2004). Accordingly, it has been shown that administration of *Ginkgo biloba* plays an important role in the resolution of inflammation through the reduction of tumor necrosis factor (TNF- α) and interleukin 1 β (IL-1 β), while enhancing the level of anti-inflammatory cytokine interleukin 10 (IL-10) (Yang *et al.*, 2013). Its anti-inflammatory properties are attributed to various flavone glycosides and terpenoids contained in.

Analysis of total serum immunoglobulins revealed that exposure of mice to SMB resulted in a significant elevation of these antibodies. Though the exact mechanisms by which SMB toxicity induces humoral immune response resulting in the secretion of immunoglobulins remains scanty, nevertheless, sulphites-induced allergies are associated with the induction of IgE (Vally & Misso, 2012). In the current study, there was clear evidence that treatment with EGb-761 restored SMB-induced elevation of these immunoglobulins to almost that of the control. Further, treatment with EGb-761 normalized the levels of SMB-induced elevation of total proteins. The extent of toxicity by SMB-driven induction of humoral immune response is still unknown and warrants further investigation.

5.5 The ameliorative impact of EGb-761 supplementation against SMB driven organ pathological lesions

Additionally, this study established the histopathological effects of SMB exposure and the effect of EGb-761 on liver, kidney and brain sections. In the liver, exposure to SMB resulted in aggravated pathological lesions characterized by diffuse fatty infiltration and hepatocyte necrosis. The outcome further corroborates findings from previous studies following exposure to SMB (Elmas *et al.*, 2005). Intriguingly in the presence of EGb-761, the SMB-induced hepatic necrosis was abrogated. The role of EGb-761 in ameliorating SMB-driven liver pathology may
be somewhat ascribed to its role as a potent antioxidant and anti-inflammatory agent (Abdel-Emam &Abd-Eldayem, 2022; Cefali *et al.*, 2019; Kaur *et al.*, 2018). Notably, oxidative stress and inflammation are some of the vital mechanisms by which SMB initiates its toxicity (Rahal *et al.*, 2014; Liu *et al.*, 2023.

Scrutiny on the kidney tissue sections demonstrated multifocal vascular congestion and interstitial hemorrhages due to SMB exposure. Earlier studies have attributed inflammatory mediators such as hyperuriceamia and urea accumulation as the driving force behind kidney pathology due to SMB-driven toxicity (El-Kadi *et al.*, 2014). Intriguingly, treatment with EGb-761 protected mice from SMB-induced renal injury. Further, histological evaluation of the brain tissues revealed no effects following SMB exposure. The normal brain architecture observed in the present study following exposure of mice to SMB perhaps may be due to the inability of sulphites to penetrate the brain barrier. Nevertheless, this observation merits further investigation.

CHAPTER SIX

CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION

6.1 Conclusion

The present study demonstrates for the first time that oral administration of standardized *Ginkgo biloba* (EGb-761) attenuated SMB-induced alteration of hematological parameters, metabolic acidosis, inflammatory responses, oxidative stress and organ damage. Arguably, because exposure to SMB results in varied detrimental effects, these findings have significant and immediate clinical implications.

6.2 Recommendations

The following recommendations are drawn from the current study:

- 1. There is a need to further elucidate the apparent molecular processes responsible for the ability of EGb-761 to confer protection from SMB toxicity in mice
- 2. Further studies should be done to determine the residue levels of SMB in various vital organs
- 3. In this study, EGb-761 was observed to have a modulatory role on the thrombocytosis and hemostasis process. This phenomenon warrants further inquiry.
- 4. The mechanisms by which EGb-761 regulates metabolic acidosis merit further investigations.

REFERENCES

- Abdel-Emam, R.A., & Abd-Eldayem, A.M. (2022). Systemic and topical *Ginkgo biloba* leaf extract (Egb-761) ameliorated rat paw inflammation in comparison to dexamethasone. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*. 282:114619.
- Abdel-Salam, O.M., B aiuomy, A.R., El-batran, S., & Arbid, M.S. (2004). Evaluation of the antiinflammatory, anti-nociceptive and gastric effects of *Ginkgo biloba* in the rat. *Pharmacological Research*. 49 (2): 133-142.
- Alvarez, B., & Radi, R. (2003). Peroxynitrite reactivity with amino acids and proteins. *Amino Acids*. 25: 295–311.
- Amjad, Z., Shabbir, S., Mughal, A., Zeb, T., Amin, R., & Mirza, T. (2020). Effect of Ginkgo
 Biloba Extract (EGb 761) on Lead-induced Nephrotoxicity in Wistar Albino Rats.
 International Journal of Endorsing Health Science Research (IJEHSR). 8 (4): 202-211.
- Amjad, Z., Iqbal, M.Z. & Shoro, A.A. (2013). Lead-induced reduction in body and kidney weight of Wistar albino rats ameliorated by *Ginkgo biloba* extract (EGb 761). *Biochemical Physiology*. 2 (113): 2.
- Asiwe, J.N., Daubry, T.M.E., Okon, I.A., Akpotu, A.E., Adagbada, E.O., Eruotor, H., Agbugba,
 L.C., & Buduburisi, B.R. (2022). *Ginkgo biloba* Supplement Reverses Lead (II) AcetateInduced Haematological Imbalances, Hepatic and Renal Dysfunctions in Male Wistar
- Rat. Biological trace element research. 200 (12): 5134–5144.

Asiwe, J.N., Ekene, E.N., Agbugba, L.C., Moke, E.G., Akintade, A.V., Ben-Azu, B., Eruotor,

H., Daubry, T.M.E., Anachuna, K.K., & Oyovwi, M.O. (2023). *Ginkgo biloba* supplement abates lead-induced endothelial and testicular dysfunction in Wistar rats via up-regulation

of Bcl-2 protein expression, pituitary-testicular hormones and down-regulation of oxidoinflammatory reactions. *Journal of Trace Elements in Medicine and Biology*. 79: 127216.

- Aslam, M. (2022). Ascorbic Acid Mitigates the Sodium Metabisulphite Induced Neonatal Pathophysiology: Study Conducted in Rodents. *Journal of Clinical Toxicology*. 12:508.
- Bai, J., & Meng, Z. (2005). Expression of apoptosis-related genes in livers from rats exposed to sulfur dioxide. *Toxicology*. 216: 253–260.
- Barker, J.E., Bolanos, J.P., Land, J.M., Clark, J.B., & Heales, S.J. (1996). Glutathione protects astrocytes from peroxynitrite-mediated mitochondrial damage: implications for neuronal/astrocytic trafficking and neurodegeneration. *Developmental Neuroscience*. 1 8:391–396.
- Belwal T., Giri L., Bahukhandi A., Tariq M., Kewlani P., Bhatt I. D., & Rawal, R.S. (2019). "*Ginkgo biloba*," in Nonvitamin and Nonmineral Nutritional Supplements, vol. 241-250
- Biernacka, P., Adamska, I., & Felisiak, K. (2023). The Potential of *Ginkgo biloba* as a Source of Biologically Active Compounds—A Review of the Recent Literature and Patents. *Molecules*. 28: 3993-3998.
- Borghi, C., Agabiti-Rosei, E., Johnson, R.J., Kielstein, J.T., Lurbe, E., Mancia, G., Redon, J., Stack, A.G., & Tsioufis, K.P. (2020). Hyperuricaemia and gout in cardiovascular, metabolic and kidney disease. *European journal of internal medicine*.80: 1–11.
- Breijyeh, Z., & Karaman, R. (2020). Comprehensive review on Alzheimer's disease: Causes and treatment. *Molecules*. 25 (24): 5789.
- Brinkley, T.E., Lovato, J.F., Arnold, A.M., Furberg, C.D., Kuller, L.H., Burke, G.L., & Williamson, J.D. (2010). Effect of *Ginkgo biloba* on blood pressure and incidence of

hypertension in elderly men and women. *American journal of hypertension*. 23 (5): 528-533.

- Budak, Y.U., Polat, M., & Huysal, K. (2016). The use of platelet indices, plateletcrit, mean
 platelet volume and platelet distribution width in emergency non-traumatic abdominal
 surgery: a systematic review. *Biochemia Medica*. 26 (2): 178–93.
- Busso, N., & So, A. (2010). Mechanisms of inflammation in gout. *Arthritis research & therapy*. 12(2): 206.
- Cabre, F., Marín, C., Cascante, M., & Canela, E.I. (1990). Occurrence and comparison of sulfite oxidase activity in mammalian tissues. *Biochemical Medicine and Metabolic Biology*. 43: 159–162.
- Cefali, L.C., Ataide, J.A., Fernandes, A.R., Sanchez-Lopez, E., Sousa, I.M.O., Figueiredo, M.C., Ruiz, A.L.T.G., Foglio, M.A., Mazzola, P.G., & Souto, E.B. (2019). Evaluation of In
- Vitro Solar Protection Factor (SPF), Antioxidant Activity, and Cell Viability of Mixed
- Vegetable Extracts from Dirmophandra mollis Benth, Ginkgo biloba L., Ruta graveolens L.,

and Vitis vinifera L. Plants (Basel, Switzerland), 8(11): 453.

- Chiarani, F., Bavaresco, C.S., Dutra-Filho, C.S., Netto, C.A., & Wyse, A.T. (2008). Sulfite increases lipoperoxidation and decreases the activity of catalase in brain of rats.
 Metabolic Brain Diseases. 23: 123–132.
- Chien, S.C., Chen, C.Y., Lin, C.F., & Yeh, H.I. (2017). Critical appraisal of the role of serum albumin in cardiovascular disease. *Biomarker research*.5: 31.

Cipak Gasparovic, A., Zarkovic, N., Zarkovic, K., Semen, K., Kaminskyy, D., Yelisyeyeva, O.,

& Bottari, S.P. (2017). Biomarkers of oxidative and nitro-oxidative stress: Conventional and novel approaches. *British Journal of Pharmacology*.174 (12): 1771–1783.

- Clostre, F. (1999). Extrait de *Ginkgo biloba* (EGb 761). Etat des connaissances à l'aube de l'an 2000 *Ginkgo biloba* extract (EGb 761). State of knowledge in the dawn of the year 2000]. *Annales pharmaceutiques francaises*. 57:1S8-88.
- Clostre, F. (1986). From the body to the cell membrane: the different levels of pharmacological action of *Ginkgo biloba*extract. *Presse Medicale*. 15 (31):1529-38.
- Cui, M., You, T., Zhao, Y., Liu, R., Guan, Y., Liu, J., Liu, X., Wang, X., & Dong, Q. (2023).
 Ginkgo biloba extract EGb 761[®] improves cognition and overall condition after ischemic stroke: Results from a pilot randomized trial. *Frontiers in pharmacology*.14: 1147860.
- Das, A., Sinha, M., Datta, S., Abas, M., Chaffee, S., Sen, C. K., & Roy, S. (2015). Monocyte and macrophage plasticity in tissue repair and regeneration. *The American journal of pathology*.185 (10): 2596–2606.
- Das, R.N., Lee, Y., Sengupta, S., Sahoo, R.K., & Mukherjee, S. (2019). Complex Association of Albumin with Other Liver Biomarkers, EC Gastroenterology and Digestive System.6: 132-137.
- Derin, N., Yargiçoğlu, P., Aslan, M., Elmas, O., Agar, A., & Aicigüzel, Y. (2006). The effect of sulfite and chronic restraint stress on brain lipid peroxidation and anti-oxidant enzyme activities. *Toxicology Industrial Health.* 22 (6):233-40.
- Draper, H.H., &Hadley, M. (1990). Malondialdehyde determination as index of lipid peroxidation. *Methods in enzymology*.186: 421–431.
- Duygu, F., Karsen, H., Aksoy, N., & Taskin, A. (2012). Relationship of oxidative stress in
 hepatitis B infection activity with HBV DNA and fibrosis. Annals of Laboratory Medicine.
 32: 113–118.

- Eckert, A., Keil, U., Scherping, I., Hauptmann, S., & Müller, W.E. (2005). Stabilization of Mitochondrial Membrane Potential and Improvement of Neuronal Energy Metabolism by *Ginkgo biloba* Extract EGb 761. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*.1056:
 474–485.
- El-Kadi, F., Bénali, A., Bénali, M., &Belbraouet, S. (2014). Effect of Sodium Metabisulphite on Blood Metabolic Status of Wistar Rats. *Food and Nutrition Sciences*.5: 1529-1537.
- Elmas, O., Aslan, M., Cağlar, S., Derin, N., Agar, A., Alicigüzel, Y., & Yargiçoğlu, P. (2005).
- The prooxidant effect of sodium metabisulfite in rat liver and kidney. *Regulatory toxicology and pharmacology: RTP.*42 (1): 77–82.
- Emmett, M. (2022). Review of Clinical Disorders Causing Metabolic Acidosis. *Advances in chronic kidney disease*.29 (4): 355–363.
- Ercan, S., Kencebay, C., Basaranlar, G., Ozcan, F., Derin, N., & Aslan, M. (2015). Induction of omega 6 inflammatory pathway by sodium metabisulfite in rat liver and its attenuation by ghrelin. *Lipids in health and disease*. 14: 7.
- Ercan, S., Ozturk, N., Celik-Ozenci, C., Gungor, N.E., & Yargicoglu, P. (2010). Sodium metabisulfite induces lipid peroxidation and apoptosis in rat gastric tissue. *Toxicology and Industrial Health*. 26: 425–431.
- Ferrero-Miliani, L., Nielsen, O.H., Andersen, P.S., & Girardin, S.E. (2007). Chronic inflammation: importance of NOD2 and NALP3 in interleukin-1beta generation. *Clinical and experimental immunology*. 147 (2): 227–235.

Gallego-Delgado, J., Ty, M., Orengo, J. M., van de Hoef, D., & Rodriguez, A. (2014). A surprising role for uric acid: the inflammatory malaria response. *Current rheumatology reports*.16 (2): 401.

- Gordon, E.M., Myers, C., &Blumer, J. (2004). In vitro evaluation of the potential role of sulfite radical in morphine-associated histamine release. *BMC Pharmacology*. 4: 21.
- Goktaş, S., Ülkü, S., & Bayraktar, O. (2008). Clinoptilolite-rich mineral as a novel carrier for the active constituents present in *Ginkgo biloba* leaf extract. *Applied clay science*. 40(1-4): 6-14.
- Griffith, O.W. (1980). Determination of glutathione and glutathione disulfide using glutathione reductase and 2-vinylpyridine. *Analytical biochemistry*. 106 (1): 207–212.
- Grings, M., Moura, A.P., Parmeggiani, B., Motta, M.M., Boldrini, R.M., & August, P.M. (2016).
 Higher susceptibility of cerebral cortex and striatum to sulfite neurotoxicity in sulfite oxidase-deficient rats. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*. 1862 (11):2063-2074.
- Hajirezaee, S., Rafieepour, A., Shafiei, S., & Rahimi, R. (2019). Immunostimulating effects of *Ginkgo biloba* extract against toxicity induced by organophosphate pesticide, diazinon in rainbow trout, Oncorhynchus mykiss: innate immunity components and immune-related genes. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*. 26: 8798-8807.

Hao, F., Li, A., Yu, H., Liu, M., Wang, Y., Liu, J., & Liang, Z. (2016). Enhanced neuroprotective effects of combination therapy with bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells and *Ginkgo biloba* extract (EGb761) in a rat model of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Neuroimmunomodulation*. 23(1): 41-57.

He, J., Lin, J., Li, J., Zhang, J.H., Sun, X.M., & Zeng, C.M. (2009). Dual effects of *Ginkgo biloba* leaf extract on human red blood cells. *Basic Clinical Pharmacology Toxicology*. 104 (2):138-44.

Hezbullah, M., Sultana, S., Chakraborty, S.R., &Patwary, M.I. (2016). Heavy metal contamination of food in a developing country like Bangladesh: An emerging threat to

food safety. Journal of Toxicology Environment Health Science. 8 (1):1-5.

- Hirata, B.K.S., Cruz, M.M., de Sá, R.D.C.C., Farias, T.S.M., Machado, M.M.F., Bueno, A.A., Alonso-Vale, M.I.C., & Telles, M.M. (2019). Potential Anti-obesogenic Effects of
- *Ginkgo biloba* Observed in Epididymal White Adipose Tissue of Obese Rats. *Frontiers in endocrinology*.10: 284.
- Ibrahim, M.A., Ramadan, H.H., & Mohammed, R.N. (2021). Evidence that *Ginkgo biloba* could use in the influenza and coronavirus COVID-19 infections. *Journal of Basic and Clinical Physiology and Pharmacology*. 32 (3): 131-143.
- Ilieva, I., Ohgami, K., Shiratori, K., Koyama, Y., Yoshida, K., Kase, S., Kitamei, H., Takemoto, Y., Yazawa, K., & Ohno, S. (2004). The effects of *Ginkgo biloba* extract on lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammation in vitro and in vivo. *Experimental Eye Research*. 79: 181–187.
- Jialiken, D., Qian, L., Ren, S., Wu, L., Xu, J., & Zou, C. (2021). Combined therapy of hypertensive nephropathy with ginkgo leaf extract and dipyridamole injection and antihypertensive drugs: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Medicine*. 100(19).
- Jiang, G.H., Nam, S.H., & Eun, J.B. (2018). Effects of peeling, drying temperature, and sodium metabisulfite treatment on physicochemical characteristics and antioxidant activities of Asian pear powders. *Journal of Food Processing and Preservation*.42 (2): e13526.
- Kadir, M.M., Janjua, N.Z., Kristensen, S., Fatmi, Z., & Sathiakumar, N. (2008). Status of children's blood lead levels in Pakistan: implications for research and policy. *Public health*.
 122 (7): 708-715.

Kalakonda, A., & John, S. (2018). Physiology, bilirubin. Treasure Island: StatPearls.

- Kamel, H.M., Zeinab, A.Z., & Eman, A.A.A. (2015). The effect of propolis and sodium metabisulfite as post-harvest treatments on pomegranate arils storage. *Am-Eurasian Journal of Agriculture Environmental Science*. 15: 1962-1973.
- Kaur, S., Sharma, N., & Nehru, B. (2018). Anti-inflammatory effects of *Ginkgo biloba* extract against trimethyltin-induced hippocampal neuronal injury. *Inflammopharmacology*. 26
- (1): 87–104.
- Kennedy, C., Okanya, P., Nyariki, J.N., Amwayi, P., Jillani, N., & Isaac, A.O. (2020). Coenzyme Q₁₀nullified khat-induced hepatotoxicity, nephrotoxicity and inflammation in a mouse model. *Heliyon*. 6 (9):e04917.
- Kotakadi, V.S., Jin, Y., Hofseth, A.B., Ying, L., Cui, X., Volate, S., & Hofseth, L.J. (2008).

Ginkgo biloba extract EGb 761 has anti-inflammatory properties and ameliorates colitis in mice

by driving effector T cell apoptosis. *Carcinogenesis*. 29 (9): 1799-1806

- Kuller, L.H., Ives, D.G., Fitzpatrick, A.L., Carlson, M.C., Mercado, C., Lopez, O.L., & DeKosky, S.T. (2010). Does *Ginkgo biloba* reduce the risk of cardiovascular events? *Circulation: Cardiovascular Quality and Outcomes.* 3 (1): 41-47.
- Kruk, J., Aboul-Enein, H.Y., Kładna, A., & Bowser, J.E. (2019). Oxidative stress in biological systems and its relation with pathophysiological functions: the effect of physical activity on cellular redox homeostasis. *Free radical research*.53 (5): 497–521.
- Lee, C.H., Olson, P., & Evans, R.M. (2003). Minireview: lipid metabolism, metabolic diseases, and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors. *Endocrinology*. 144(6): 2201–2207.

- Lai, M.C., Hung, T.Y., Lin, K.M., Sung, P.S., Wu, S.J., Yang, C.S., & Huang, C.W. (2018).
 Sodium metabisulfite: effects on ionic currents and excitotoxicity. *Neurotoxicity* research. 34 (1): 1-15.
- Leyva Salas, M., Mounier, J., Valence, F., Coton, M., Thierry, A., & Coton, E. (2017).

Antifungal Microbial Agents for Food Biopreservation-A Review. *Microorganisms*. 5 (3).

- Li, L., Zhang, M.X., Wang, X.Y., Yang, Y.L., Gong, X., Wang, C.C., & Li, M.H. (2020). Assessment of components of *Gingko biloba* leaves collected from different regions of China that contribute to its antioxidant effects for improved quality monitoring. *Food Science and Technology*. 41: 676-683.
- Liu, L., Wang, Y., Zhang, J., & Wang, S. (2021). Advances in the chemical constituents and chemical analysis of *Ginkgo biloba* leaf, extract, and phytopharmaceuticals. *Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis*.193.
- Liu, M., Lu, J., Liu, Q., Chen, Y., Wang, G., Zhang, Q., & Guan, S. (2023). Effects of sodium metabisulfite on pyroptosis, mitophagy and degranulation in mast cells. Food and
- chemical toxicology: an international journal published for the *British Industrial Biological Research Association*.178: 113918.
- Lopez, E.O., Ballard, B.D., & Jan, A. (2022). Cardiovascular disease. In *StatPearls [Internet]*. StatPearls Publishing.
- Lubos, E., Handy, D.E., &Loscalzo, J. (2008). Role of oxidative stress and nitric oxide in atherothrombosis. *Frontiers in bioscience: a journal and virtual library*.13: 5323–5344.
- Maitra, I., Marcocci, L., Droy-Lefaix, M.T., &Packer, L. (1995). Peroxyl radical scavenging activity of *Ginkgo biloba* extract EGb 761. *Biochemical Pharmacology*. 49: 1649–1655.

- Masamoto, Y., Nannya, Y., Arai, S., Koike, Y., Hangaishi, A., Yatomi, Y., & Kurokawa, M. (2009). Evidence for basophilic differentiation of acute promyelocytic leukaemia cells during arsenic trioxide therapy. *British journal of haematology*. 144 (5): 798–799.
- Massieu, L., Morán, J., & Christen, Y. (2004). Effect of *Ginkgo biloba* (EGB 761) on Staurosporine-Induced Neuronal Death and Caspase Activity in Cortical Cultured Neurons. *Brain Research*. 1002 (1-2): 76–85.
- Medzhitov, R. (2010). Inflammation 2010: new adventures of an old flame. Cell. 140 (6): 771–776.
- Mepham, B. (2011. Food additives: An ethical evaluation. British Medical Bulletin.99 (1): 7–23.
- Mesquita, T.R., De Jesus, I.C., Dos Santos, J.F., De Almeida, G.K., De Vasconcelos, C.M., Guatimosim, S., & Lauton-Santos, S. (2017). Cardioprotective action of *Ginkgo biloba* extract against sustained β-adrenergic stimulation occurs via activation of M2/NO pathway. *Frontiers in pharmacology*. 8: 220.
- Miyata, T., Ishii, T., Sugiyama, N., Okano, Y., Nishi, N., Takahama, K., Ogasawara, S., Oda, Y., Yokoyama, K., & Murata, Y. (1990). Effect of N-acetylneuraminic acid on respiratory
- tract secretion and inflammation in the bronchitic rabbit. *Archives internationales de pharmacodynamie et de therapie*.304: 277–289.
- Mwaeni, V.K., Nyariki, J.N., Jillani, N., Omwenga, G., Ngugi, M., & Isaac, A.O. (2021).
 Coenzyme Q₁₀ protected against arsenite and enhanced the capacity of 2,3dimercaptosuccinic acid to ameliorate arsenite-induced toxicity in mice. *BMC Pharmacology Toxicology*. 22 (1):19.
- Nair, B., & Elmore, A. R. (2003). Cosmetic Ingredients Review Expert Panel. Final report on the safety assessment of sodium sulfite, potassium sulfite, ammonium sulfite, sodium

bisulfite, ammonium bisulfite, sodium metabisulfite and potassium metabisulfite. *International journal of toxicology*. 22 (2): 63–88.

- Ngatuni, D., Wairagu, P., Jillani, N., Isaac, A.O., & Nyariki, J.N. (2022). A glyphosate-based herbicide disrupted hematopoiesis and induced organ toxicities, ameliorated by vitamin B₁₂ in a mouse model. *Saudi Journal of Biological Sciences*. 29 (6):103278.
- Noorafshan, A., Asadi-Golshan, R., Karbalay-Doust, S., Abdollahifar, M.A., & Rashidiani-Rashidabadi, A. (2013). Curcumin, the Main Part of Turmeric, Prevents Learning and Memory Changes Induced by Sodium Metabisulfite, a Preservative Agent, in Rats. Exp. *Neurobiology*. 22: 23–30.
- Noor-E-Tabassum, Das, R., Lami, M.S., Chakraborty, A.J., Mitra, S., Tallei, T.E., Idroes, R., Mohamed, A.A., Hossain, M.J., Dhama, K., Mostafa-Hedeab, G., & Emran, T.B. (2022). *Ginkgo biloba*: A Treasure of Functional Phytochemicals with Multimedicinal Applications. *Evidence-based complementary and alternative medicine:* eCAM, 2022: 8288818.
- Nowak, A., Kojder, K., Zielonka-Brzezicka, J., Wróbel, J., Bosiacki, M., Fabiańska, M., Wróbel,
 M., Sołek-Pastuszka, J., & Klimowicz, A. (2021). The Use of *Ginkgo biloba* L. as a Neuroprotective Agent in the Alzheimer's disease. *Frontiers in pharmacology*.12: 775034.
- Nowak, A., Zielonka-Brzezicka, J., Pechaiko, D., Tkacz, M., & Klimowicz, A. (2017). Ocena Właściwości Antyoksydacyjnych Liści Ginkgo biloba L. Po Zakończeniu Wegetacji. Pomeranian Journal of Life Sciences. 63 (1): 24–30.
- Okuyan, B., Izzettin, F.V., Bingol-Ozakpinar, O., Turan, P., Ozdemir, Z.N., Sancar, M., Cirakli,Z., Clark, P.M., & Ercan, F. (2012). The effects of *Ginkgo biloba* on nephrotoxicity

induced by cisplatin-based chemotherapy protocols in rats. IUFS Journal of Biology. 71: 103-111.

- Olufunmilayo, E.O., Gerke-Duncan, M.B., & Holsinger, R.M.D. (2023). Oxidative Stress and Antioxidants in Neurodegenerative Disorders. *Antioxidants*.12: 517.
- Oula J.O., Mose, J.M., Waiganjo, N.N., Chepukosi, K.W., Mitalo, N.S., Isaac, A.O., & Nyariki, J.N. (2023). Vitamin B12 blocked Trypanosoma brucei rhodesiense-driven disruption of the blood brain barrier, and normalized nitric oxide and malondialdehyde levels in a mouse model. *Parasitology International*. 96:102775.
- Ohara, H., Watanabe, M., Takebayashi, M., Abe, S., Matsuzaki, T., & Hayasaka, M. (2020). Bactericidal and Antiproliferative Effects of Peripheral Parenteral Nutrition Solutions
- with Sodium Bisulfite on Pathogenic Microorganisms in Catheter Lumens. *International journal of medical sciences*. 17 (12): 1833–1839.
- Ozturk, N., Yargicoglu, P., Derin, N., Akpinar, D., Agar, A., & Aslan, M. (2011). Dosedependent effect of nutritional sulfite intake on visual evoked potentials and lipid peroxidation. *Neurotoxicology and teratology*.33 (2): 244–254.
- Pacher, P., Beckman, J. S., & Liaudet, L. (2007). Nitric Oxide and Peroxynitrite in Health and Disease. *Physiology Review*. 87: 315–424.
- Paula Neto, H.A., Ausina, P., Gomez, L.S., Leandro, J.G., Zancan, P., & Sola-Penna, M. (2017).
 Effects of food additives on immune cells as contributors to body weight gain and
 immune mediated metabolic dysregulation. *Frontiers in immunology*. 8: 1478.
- Piazza, S., Pacchetti, B., Fumagalli, M., Bonacina, F., Dell'Agli, M., & Sangiovanni, E. (2019). Comparison of Two *Ginkgo biloba* L. Extracts on Oxidative Stress and Inflammation Markers in Human Endothelial Cells. *Mediators of inflammation*. 2019: 6173893.

- Rahal, A., Kumar, A., Singh, V., Yadav, B., Tiwari, R., Chakraborty, S., & Dhama, K. (2014). Oxidative stress, prooxidants, and antioxidants: The interplay. *BioMed Research International*. 2014: 761264.
- Raju, S., Sivanesan, S., & Gudemalla, K. (2020). *Ginkgo biloba* ameliorates fluoride toxicity in rats by altering histopathology, serum enzymes of heme metabolism and oxidative stress without affecting brain mGluR5 gene. *Pharmacognosy Magazine*. 16 (70): 320-326.
- Rojas, C., Rojas-Castañeda, J., & Rojas, P. (2016). Antioxidant Properties of a *Ginkgo biloba* Leaf Extract (EGb 761) in Animal Models of Alzheimer's and Parkinson's Diseases. *Current Topics inNutraceutical Research.* 14 (1): 1–16.
- Sack, C., Reeb-Whitaker, C.K., Todorov, D., & Darby, P.S. (2023). Toxic inhalation of sodium metabisulphite by-products from a shipping container. *Occupational Medicine (Chic. Ill)*. 73: 219–222.
- Sener, G., Sener, E., Sehirli, O., Ogunc, A.V., Cetinel, S., Gedik, N., & Sakarcan, A. (2005). Ginkgo biloba extract ameliorates ischemia reperfusion-induced renal injury in rats. PharmacologyResearch. 52: 216-222.
- Sharma, J.N., Al-Omran, A., & Parvathy, S.S. (2007). Role of nitric oxide in inflammatory diseases. *Inflammopharmacology*.15 (6): 252–259.
- Shekarforoush, S., Ebrahimi, Z., & Hoseini, M. (2015). Sodium metabisulfite-induced changes
- on testes, spermatogenesis and epididymal morphometric values in adult rats. *International Journal of Reproductive BioMedicine*, 13 (12): 765.
- Singh, S.K., Srivastav, S., Castellani, R.J., Plascencia-Villa, G., & Perry, G. (2019). Neuroprotective and Antioxidant Effect of *Ginkgo biloba* Extract Against AD and Other

Neurological Disorders. *Neurotherapeutics: the journal of the American Society for Experimental NeuroTherapeutics*. 16 (3): 666–674.

- Shu, P., Sun, M., Li, J., Zhang, L., Xu, H., Lou, Y., Ju, Z., Wei, X., Wu, W., & Sun, N. (2020). Chemical constituents from *Ginkgo biloba* leaves and their cytotoxicity activity.*Journal* of natural medicines.74 (1): 269–274.
- Smith, J.V., & Luo, Y. (2003). Elevation of Oxidative Free Radicals in Alzheimer's Disease Models Can Be Attenuated by *Ginkgo biloba* Extract EGb 761. J. Alzheimers Disease. 5 (4): 287–300.
- Smith, P.F., Maclennan, K., & Darlington, C.L. (1996). The neuroprotective properties of the *Ginkgo biloba* leaf: a review of the possible relationship to platelet-activating factor
 (PAF). *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*. 50: 131–139.
- Song, J., Liu, D., Feng, L., Zhang, Z., Jia, X., & Xiao, W. (2013). Protective effect of standardized extract of *Ginkgo biloba* against cisplatin-induced nephrotoxicity. *Evidence-Based Complimentary Alternative Medicine*. 2013.
- Strain, M.L., Yingling, M.N., Kraleti, S., & Thiessen, K.A. (2019). Rhabdomyolysis after *Ginkgo biloba* and Cannabis. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Practice Research*. 49 (4): 368–372.
- Tewari, L. M., Upreti, B. M., Tewari, G., Singh, M. K., & Nailwal, T. (2017). Comparative In Vitro Antioxidant Activity of Extracts of Aerial Parts of *Ginkgo biloba* L. From Kumaun Himalaya. World Journal of Pharmaceutical Research. 6 (13): 654–666.
- Tewari, D., Stankiewicz, A.M., Mocan, A., Sah, A.N., Tzvetkov, N.T., Huminiecki, L., & Atanasov, A.G. (2018). Ethnopharmacological approaches for dementia therapy and significance of natural products and herbal drugs. *Frontiers in aging neuroscience*. 10: 3.

- Thadhani, R., Pascual, M., & Bonventre, J.V. (1996). Acute renal failure. *New England Journal of Medicine*. 334: 1448-1460.
- Tian, T., Liu, X.R., Li, .T.T., Nie, Z.C., Li, S.J., Tang, Y., Gu, C.W., Xu, H., & Jia, H. (2021). Detrimental effects of long-term elevated serum uric acid on cognitive function in rats. *Scientific Reports*.11: 6732.
- Til, H.P., Feron, V.J., & De Groot, A.P. (1972). The Toxicity of Sulphite. II. Short- and Long-Term Feeding Studies in Pigs. *Food and Cosmetics Toxicology*.10: 463-473.
- Torabian, K., Lezzar, D., Piety, N.Z., George, A., & Shevkoplyas, S.S. (2017). Substituting sodium hydrosulfite with sodium metabisulfite improves long-term stability of a distributable paper-based test kit for point-of-care screening for sickle cell anemia. Biosensors (Basel). 7 (3): 39.
- Vally, H., & Misso, N.L.A. (2012). Adverse reactions to the sulphite additives. *Gastroenterology Hepatology*.5: 16.
- Vellas, B., Coley, N., Ousset, P. J., Berrut, G., Dartigues, J. F., Dubois, B., Grandjean, H.,
- Pasquier, F., Piette, F., Robert, P., Touchon, J., Garnier, P., Mathiex-Fortunet, H., &
- Andrieu, S. (2012). Long-term use of standardised *Ginkgo biloba* extract for the prevention of Alzheimer's disease (GuidAge): a randomised placebo-controlled trial. *The Lancet. Neurology*.11 (10): 851–859.

Wadsworth, T.L., & Koop, D.R. (2001). Effects of *Ginkgo biloba* extract (EGb 761) and quercetin on lipopolysaccharide-induced release of nitric oxide. *Chemical Biological Interaction*. 137: 43–58.

- Wadsworth, T.L., McDonald, T.L., & Koop, D.R. (2001). Effects of *Ginkgo biloba* extract (EGb 761) and quercetin on lipopolysaccharide-induced signaling pathways involved in the release of tumor necrosis factor-alpha. *Biochemical Pharmacology*. 62: 963–974.
- Xie, L., Zhu, Q., & Lu, J. (2022). Can We Use *Ginkgo biloba* Extract to Treat Alzheimer's Disease? Lessons from Preclinical and Clinical Studies. *Cells*. 11 (3): 479.
- Xin, W., Wei, T., Chen, C., Ni, Y., Zhao, B., & Hou, J. (2000). Mechanisms of Apoptosis in Rat Cerebellar Granule Cells Induced by Hydroxyl Radicals and the Effects of EGb761 and

its Constituents. *Toxicology*. 148 (2-3): 103–110.

- Xiong, Y., Zhu, G.H., Wang, H.N., Hu, Q., Chen, L.L., Guan, X.Q., Li, H.L., Chen, H.Z., Tang,
 H., & Ge, G.B.(2021). Discovery of naturally occurring inhibitors against SARS-CoV-2
 3CL^{pro} from *Ginkgo biloba* leaves via large-scale screening. *Fitoterapia*. 152: 104909.
- Yallapragada, P.R., &Velaga, M.K. (2015). Effect of *Ginkgo biloba* Extract on Lead-Induced Oxidative Stress in Different Regions of Rat Brain. Journal of environmental pathology, toxicology and oncology: *official organ of the International Society for Environmental Toxicology and Cancer*.34 (2): 161–173.
- Yang, Y., Liu, P., Chen, L., Liu, Z., Zhang, H., Wang, J., Sun, X., Zhong, W., Wang, N., Tian,
- K., & Zhao, J.(2013). Therapeutic effect of *Ginkgo biloba* polysaccharide in rats with focal cerebral ischemia/reperfusion (I/R) injury. *Carbohydrate polymers*.98 (2): 1383–1388.
- Yoo, J., Lim, Y. M., Kim, H., Kim, E. J., Lee, D. H., Lee, B., Kim, P., Yu, S. D., Kim, H. M., Yoon, B. I., & Shim, I.(2018). Potentiation of Sodium Metabisulfite Toxicity by
- Propylene Glycol in Both *in Vitro* and *in Vivo* Systems. *Frontiers in pharmacology*.9: 161.
- Zare, S., Hossein Dabbaghmanesh, M., Noorafshan, A., Koohpeyma, F., Bakhshayeshkaram, M.,& Montazeri-Najafabady, N. (2019). Protective effect of vitamin E and vitamin C alone

and in combination on testicular damage induced by sodium metabisulphite in rats: A stereological study. *Andrologia*51 (2): e13193.

- Zeng, G.R., Shao, Y.J., Zhang, M.H., Dong, L.M., Lv, J.W., Zhang, H.X., & Liu, X.M. (2018). Effect of *Ginkgo biloba* extract-761 on motor functions in permanent middle cerebral artery occlusion rats. *Phytomedicine*. 48: 94-103.
- Zhang, Q., Bai, Y., Yang, Z., Tian, J., & Meng, Z. (2015). The molecular mechanisms of sodium metabisulfite on the expression of K ATP and L-Ca2+ channels in rat hearts. *Regulatory toxicology and pharmacology: RTP.*72 (3): 440–446.
- Zhang, Q.X., Bai, Y.L., Tian, J.J., Lei, X.D., Li, M., Yang, Z.H., & Meng, Z.Q. (2015). Effects
- of sodium metabisulfite on the expression of BK_{Ca} , K_{ATP} , and L-Ca²⁺ channels in rat aortas in vivo, and in vitro. *The Journal of Hazardous Materials*. 284: 151–162.
- Zhou, X., Qi, Y., & Chen, T. (2017). Long-term pre-treatment of antioxidant *Ginkgo biloba* extract EGb-761 attenuates cerebral-ischemia-induced neuronal damage in aged mice. *Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy*. 85: 256-263.

APPENDICES

Appendix I: Ethical clearance certificate



UNIVERSITY OF NAIROBI FACULTY OF VETERINARY MEDICINE DEPARTMENT OF VETERINARY ANATOMY AND PHYSIOLOGY

P.O. Box 30197, 00100 Nairobl, Kenya.

Tel: 4449004/4442014/6

Ext. 2300 Direct Line, 4448648

REF: FVM BAUEC/2022/351

Nancy Wambui Wairimu, Dept. of Biochemistry & Biotechnology Technical University of Kenya 09/03/2022

Dear Nancy,

RE: Approval of proposal by Faculty Biosafety, Animal use and Ethics committee

"Toxicological characterization of sodium metabisulfite and mitigation of its effects by standardized *Ginkgo biloba* extract (EGb-761) in a mouse model".

We refer to your MSc. proposal submitted to our committee for review and your application letter dated 22nd February 2022. We have reviewed your application for ethical clearance for the study. The number of mice and protocols used to evaluate organ physiological, biochemical, immunopathological, inflammation and oxidative stress parameters meets the minimum standards of the Faculty of Veterinary medicine ethical regulation guidelines.

We hereby give approval for you to proceed with the project as outlined in the submitted proposal.

Yours sincerely,

nua

Dr. Catherine Kaluwa, Ph.D Chairperson, Biosafety, Animal Use and Ethics Committee, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, University of Nairobi

Appendix II: Plagiarism report

Nancy Wambui

ORIGINALITY REPORT $18_{\%}$ 16% 13% % INTERNET SOURCES PUBLICATIONS STUDENT PAPERS SIMILARITY INDEX PRIMARY SOURCES www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov 2% Internet Source link.springer.com 2% Internet Source repository.tukenya.ac.ke 2% Internet Source 1%

> James O. Oula, John Mokua Mose, Naomi N. Waiganjo, Kennedy W. Chepukosi et al. "Vitamin B12 blocked Trypanosoma brucei rhodesiense-driven disruption of the blood brain barrier, and normalized nitric oxide and malondialdehyde levels in a mouse model", Parasitology International, 2023 Publication